
EDGERTON CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

CITY HALL, 404 EAST NELSON STREET 
September 12, 2024 

7:00 P.M. 
Call to Order 
1. Roll Call   

____ Roberts ____ Longanecker ____ Lewis ____ Lebakken ____ Malloy ____ Conus 
2. Welcome 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
4. Approve Minutes from August 22, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting  
5. Approve Application PUD2024-0101, Revised Final PUD Plan/Plat for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2, 

located southwest of the intersection of Braun Street/207th Street and W. 8th 
Street/Edgerton Road, Edgerton, Kansas 

6. Approve Resolution No. 09-12-24A Approving the Mayoral Appointment for Certain Public 
Officials for the City of Edgerton, Kansas  

7. Approve Concurrence to Bid 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
 

Regular Agenda 
8. Declaration. At this time Council members may declare any conflict or communication they 

have had that might influence their ability to impartially consider today’s issues. 
 
9. Public Comments. The City of Edgerton encourages public participation in local 

governance issues. To facilitate an efficient and effective meeting, persons wishing to 
address the City Council must sign-up before the meeting begins. Speakers must provide 
their name and address for the record and are limited to three (3) minutes. The maximum 
time limit for all speakers will be thirty (30) minutes. Comments on personnel matters or 
matters pending before court/other outside tribunals are not permitted. Any comments are 
for informational purposes only. No action will be taken. 

 
The Mayor may modify these provisions, as necessary. The Mayor may limit any 
unnecessary, off-topic, or redundant comments or presentations. Speakers should address 
their comments to City Council members only and should not speak to fellow audience 
members. City Council members will not engage in a dialogue or debate with speakers. 
Speakers and audience members should conduct themselves in a civil and respectful 
manner. Disruptive conduct may result in removal from the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Business Requiring Action 
10. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 09-12-24B AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF EDGERTON, 

KANSAS TO CONSENT TO A PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF A TIF AND A CID 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE AMENDMENT OF BOND 
DOCUMENTS FOR THE EDGERTON CROSSING WOODSTONE PROJECT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 
 

11. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2167 ADOPTING THE PLANNING  COMMISSION’S 
RECOMMENDATION TO APPROVE THE RENEWAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT (CU2024-0100) ALLOWING BILLBOARD FOR AD TREND, LLC ON THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD, EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
  

12. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2168 ADOPTING THE PLANNING COMMISSION’S 
RECOMMENDATION TO APPROVE THE RENEWAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT (CU2024-0101) ALLOWING BILLBOARD FOR AD TREND, LLC ON THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD, EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
13. PUBLIC HEARING TO DISCUSS A POSSIBLE DANGEROUS AND UNSAFE BUILDING 

EXISTING AT 301 E 5TH STREET IN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, JOHNSON COUNTY, 
KANSAS PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION 07-11-24A AND CITY OF EDGERTON 
MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER IV, ARTICLE 11, SECTION 4-1107 
 
 

14. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2169 AMENDING ARTICLE 3 – 
AGRICULTURAL AND RESIDENCE DISTRICTS - OF THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE (UDC) OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS AND 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 
THEREWITH 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
 
15. CONSIDER CHANGE ORDER TO CONTRACT WITH INCITE DESIGN STUDIO FOR 

CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES AS PART OF THE GREENSPACE PROJECT FOR 
$53,580 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
 
 



16. CONSIDER CHANGE ORDER #16 TO CONTRACT WITH COMBES CONSTRUCTION 
FOR ADDITIONAL PAVEMENT RELATED TO CONSTRUCTION OF THE GREENSPACE 
PROJECT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
17. Report by the City Administrator 

• Discussion Regarding Updated Park Regulations 
 

18. Report by the Mayor 
 
 
19. Future Meeting Reminders:  

• September 26: City Council Meeting – 7:00 PM 
• October 8: Planning Commission – 7:00 PM 
• October 10: City Council Meeting – 7:00 PM  
• October 10: CIP Budget Work Session – Following Council Meeting  
• October 24: City Council Meeting – 7:00PM 

 
20. Adjourn Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
 

 

EV
EN

TS
 

9/18: Senior Lunch & BINGO  
9/21: Cops N Bobbers 
9/21: Spooky Movie Night: Hocus Pocus 
9/28: Pumpkin Yoga 
9/28: Park Poker 
10/4 – 10/5: Meat Inferno 
10/8: Tales for Tots 
10/22: Royal Iced Candy Corn Cookie 
10/28: Spooktacular Jack-O-Lantern Showcase 



City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Minutes of City Council Regular Session 

August 22, 2024 

A Regular Session of the City Council was held in the Edgerton City Hall, 404 E. Nelson, 
Edgerton, Kansas August 22, 2024. The meeting convened at 7:00PM with Mayor Roberts 
presiding. 

1. ROLL CALL

Clay Longanecker present 
Josh Lewis absent 
Deb Lebakken present 
Bill Malloy  present 
Ron Conus present 

With a quorum present, the meeting commenced. 

Staff in attendance: City Administrator, Beth Linn 
City Clerk, Alex Clower 
City Attorney, Todd Luckman 
Assistant to the City Administrator, Kara Banks 
Public Works Director, Dan Merkh 
Public Works Superintendent, Trey Whitaker 
Parks and Recreation Director, Levi Meyer 
Development Services Director, Zach Moore 
Director of Finance, Karen Kindle 
Recreation Superintendent, Brittany Paddock 

2. WELCOME. Mayor Roberts welcomed all in attendance.

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. All present participated in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
4. Approve Minutes from August 8, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting

Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the Consent Agenda, seconded by 
Councilmember Lebakken. The Consent Agenda was approved, 4-0. 

Regular Agenda 
5. Declaration. There were no declarations made.

6. Public Comments. There were no public comments made.
DRA

FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 2  
 

Page 2 of 10 
 

7. Proclamation. Honoring Raymond “Ray” Braun on his posthumous induction into the 
Gardner Edgerton Unified School District 231 Alumni Hall of Fame and setting August 22, 
2024 as Ray Braun day.  

 
Mr. Charlie Troutner proudly accepted the proclamation on behalf of the Braun family. He 
stated the family was watching on Facebook live. He stated this will be included as part of the 
museum tribute to Mr. Braun.   
 
 
8. Introduction of New Hire Trenton Fowler, Public Works Maintenance Technician I.  
Mayor Roberts stated he will push this item to a future meeting.  
 
 
Business Requiring Action 
9. CONSIDER AN AGREEMENT WITH BG CONSULTANTS, INC. FOR TECHNICAL 

SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARD DETAILS UPDATE 
 

Mr. Merkh addressed the Council. He stated in October 2023, staff presented the 2024-2028 
Unfunded CIP Projects, which included the Technical Specifications as a project recommended 
for funding. He stated the adopted CIP Budget included this project as funded for 2024 and 
2025. He stated as presented, this project will prepare technical specifications, design criteria, 
and standard details for the various infrastructure types, primarily street and sanitary sewer. He 
stated as development continues, having set standards will allow developers to know the clear 
expectations for city-owned infrastructure. He stated currently, the city has its own water 
technical specifications and quotes outside sources for standards, such as the APWA. He stated 
having city specific standards will incorporate lessons learned from past development as well as 
provide a more accessible set of information to developers. He stated this would consist of 
streets, stormwater, sanitary sewer, water, streetlighting, and any other areas that come up 
during the project.  
 
He stated staff recommends utilizing our on-call agreement with BG Consultants for Technical 
Specification and Standard Details Update. He stated selection of BG Consultants will expedite 
the start date for the project. He stated in addition, the City Engineer, has been involved in 
many other aspects of the design and development of projects within Edgerton and are familiar 
with our existing standards and specifications.  
 
He stated staff and BG Consultants will utilize the same agreement for services as previously 
agreed upon for other City projects as the City Engineer. He stated the agreement work order 
will be billed based on actual hours worked on the projects for a not to exceed amount of 
$45,000. He stated the technical specifications to be included in this scope of work are in the 
attached work order.  
 
Mayor Roberts asked when they can expect the work to be completed.  
 
Mr. Merkh stated it would likely be the later part of next year.  
 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 3  
 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Councilmember Longanecker asked if the Olathe specs are what the City currently uses right 
now.  
 
Mr. Merkh stated that is the starting point.  
 
Ms. Linn stated the City has used standards from surrounding municipalities in the past, but 
nothing has been adopted.  
 
With no further questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve the 
agreement with BG Consultants for Technical Specifications and Standard Details Update for an 
amount not to exceed $45,000. 
 
Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Malloy. The agreement was approved, 4-0. 
 
 
10. PUBLIC HEARING FOR RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24A OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, 

KANSAS TO LEVY A PROPERTY TAX RATE EXCEEDING THE REVENUE NEUTRAL 
RATE 
 

Ms. Kindle addressed the Council. She stated we are in the last few steps of the 2025 Budget 
process. She stated the first part is the public hearing to consider exceeding the revenue 
neutral rate (RNR).   
 
Ms. Linn played a video that explains how property taxes are calculated and disbursed among 
taxing jurisdictions. The video is available on the City’s website at this link.  
 
Ms. Kindle stated SB13 became effective in March 2021. SB13 created the RNR. Based on the 
previous years property tax revenue and the current years assessed values, the estimated mill 
rate set is 25.990, a decrease from 2024. She stated the 2025 budget was prepared using the 
previous mill rate.  
 
She stated at the Council Meeting on June 10, 2021, the City’s Financial Advisor and City staff 
presented information about SB 13 and asked for direction from the Council regarding 
suggested adjustments to the RNR. She stated the resulting policy direction document is 
attached.  
 
The property tax revenue amount included in the 2025 General Fund Budget was calculated 
based on these adjustments. 
 
Mayor Roberts opened the public hearing at 7:16PM  
 
With no question or comments, Mayor Roberts then closed the public hearing at 7:16PM.  
 
11. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24A OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS TO 

LEVY A PROPERTY TAX RATE EXCEEDING THE REVENUE NEUTRAL RATE 

DRA
FT

https://youtu.be/w59HUqgMyjg


Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 4  
 

Page 4 of 10 
 

 
Ms. Kindle stated the City is required to hold a RNR Public Hearing and pass a resolution setting 
the mill rate to be used for the 2025 Budget. She stated the attached draft Resolution No. 08-
22-24A establishes the City’s estimated mill rate at 29.550 mills.  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution No. 
08-22-24A, exceeding the revenue neutral rate.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Malloy. Resolution No. 08-22-24A was approved, 4-0. 
 
  
12. PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE PROPOSED 2025 BUDGET 
 
Ms. Linn played the Budget 101 video as found on the City’s website at this link. The budget 
sets the maximum amount of money that the City can spend each year. The budget details how 
the City uses its resources to meet community priorities and organizational objectives. 
 
Ms. Kindle stated in July, the City held a work session to review all funds. She stated the 
current budget for approval has been updated to reflect the changes made as requested by 
Council. She stated these changes included reducing the allocation to Frontier Days and 
reducing the allocation to Project Grad.  
 
She stated we also received the TIF information back from the County Clerk and that has now 
been added to the packet. She stated the last piece was a little more detail on the properties 
coming off of abatement. The information shows what they currently pay for PILOT, their 
assessed value today and then what we can expect with the estimated mill rate.  
 
She stated for vehicles and equipment, part of that presentation at the budget work session 
included three items on the unfunded equipment list that staff recommended Council consider 
funding in 2029. The three items are the Brine Manufacturing System and two Outdoor Brine 
Storage Tanks. She stated council gave consensus to fund all three items. Staff has 
incorporated those items into Exhibit B.  
 
Mayor Roberts opened the public hearing at 7:24PM.  
 
Mayor Roberts then asked if there were any questions or comments regarding the Public 
Hearing for the 2025 Proposed Budget  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts then closed the public hearing at 7:25PM.  
 
 
13. CONSIDER THE 2025 RECOMMENDED BUDGET 

 
Ms. Kindle stated if the budget is approved, Council will sign the certificate page and submit to 
the county by the deadline provided.  

DRA
FT

https://youtu.be/P2pVZqrOgnE


Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 5  
 

Page 5 of 10 
 

 
Mayor Roberts asked if there were any questions or comments.  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve the 2025 
Recommended Budget as presented by staff.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Lebakken. The 2025 Budget was approved, 3-1 with Councilmember Conus voting against.   
 
 
14. PUBLIC HEARING FOR RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24B TEMPORARILY WAIVING 

CITY PROHIBITION AS TO THE SALE AND CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC 
LIQUOR ON CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY FOR MEAT INFERNO EVENT 

 
Ms. Paddock addressed the council. She stated the annual barbecue contest Meat Inferno event 
is coming to Edgerton October 4th – 5th. She stated the Resolution for approval would allow for 
alcohol sales and consumption at the event on Friday night. She stated the Public Hearing and 
approval of the Resolution allows the City to temporarily waive the prohibition of this sale and 
consumption on public property.  
 
Mayor Roberts opened the public hearing at 7:27PM.  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts then closed the Public Hearing at 7:27PM.   
 

 
15. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24B TEMPORARILY WAIVING CITY 

PROHIBITION AS TO THE SALE AND CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR ON 
CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY FOR MEAT INFERNO EVENT 
 

With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution No. 
08-22-24B, allowing for the temporary waiving of the prohibition of sale and consumption of 
alcohol on certain public property for the Meat Inferno event on October 4th.  
 
Councilmember Lebakken moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Longanecker. Resolution No. 08-22-24B was approved, 4-0. 
 

 
16. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24C AUTHORIZING SPECIAL EVENT 

PERMIT FOR SALE AND CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR ON 
CERTAIN PUBLIC PROPERTY WITHIN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

Ms. Paddock stated this resolution for approval will authorize the sale and consumption of 
alcohol on certain public property on October 4th for the Meat Inferno event.  
 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 6  
 

Page 6 of 10 
 

With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution No. 
08-22-24C, authorizing the special event permit for sale and consumption of alcohol on certain 
public property on October 4th for the Meat Inferno event.  
 
Councilmember Lebakken moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Longanecker. Resolution No. 08-22-24C was approved, 4-0. 

 
 

17. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24D AUTHORIZING THE CLOSURE OF 
CERTAIN PUBLIC STREETS FOR MEAT INFERNO. 

 
Ms. Paddock stated the closure of streets remains roughly the same as in years past. It is 
adjusted slightly to accommodate the construction crew since the City is closing Nelson St.  
 
Mayor Roberts asked if there are going to be detours. 
 
Ms. Paddock stated there will be a truck route detour. She stated they will put up signs to direct 
them over the bridge.   
 
With no further questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution 
No. 08-22-24D, authorizing the closure of certain public streets for Meat Inferno.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Malloy. Resolution No. 08-22-24D was approved, 4-0. 
 
 
18. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24E FOR TEMPORARY NO PARKING 

RELATED TO MEAT INFERNO 
 
Ms. Paddock reviewed the no parking/street closure map for the event. She stated staff is 
requesting that parking be prohibited along certain streets during the event to help with traffic 
around the event and protect pedestrian safety. She stated staff is requesting no parking on 
certain streets as listed from October 3rd at 12:00PM to October 7th at 12:00PM.  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution No. 
08-22-24E, allowing for temporary no parking on certain public streets for the Meat Inferno 
event.  
 
Councilmember Malloy moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Longanecker. Resolution No. 08-22-24E was approved, 4-0. 

 
 
19. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 08-22-24F APPROVAL OF INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE EDGERTON UNITED METHODIST CHURCH FOR USE 
OF THE CHURCH PARKING LOTS DURING THE MEAT INFERNO EVENT 

 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 7  
 

Page 7 of 10 
 

Ms. Paddock stated in previous years, the City has entered into an agreement with the Edgerton 
United Methodist Church to use their parking lots for the Meat Inferno event. She stated the the 
church is requesting that larger trailers not be parked on their paved parking lot. She stated the 
agreement states they are allowed to have a booth at the event if they choose, and they are 
covered on the City’s insurance for the duration of the event. She stated the agreement has 
already been signed by the church.  
 
With no questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Resolution No. 
08-22-24F, approving the indemnity agreement with the Edgerton United Methodist Church.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Lebakken. Resolution No. 08-22-24F was approved, 4-0. 
 
 
20. Report by the City Administrator 

• Recreation Update 
Ms. Paddock gave an update on the summer programs offered by the city. She stated there 
was as steady increase in attendance compared to previous years as well as a few more 
classes offered. She stated the step into spring walking challenge was more popular than 
what she thought it would have been.  
 
Mayor Roberts and Council thanked Brittany for all her hard work to provide these events 
for the community.  
 
• 312 E 5th Street Update 
Mr. Moore addressed the Council. He stated at the May, Council declared this property 
dangerous or unsafe. The Resolution approved at that meeting required the property owner 
to take action to resolve the structure by demolition or repair. He stated in June, an update 
was given on the progress that had occurred, in which they needed more time. Council then 
gave that extension until July 11th and again gave another extension at that council date. He 
stated they are looking for quotes to either demolish or repair. He stated a note was made 
about the basement egress doors at that council meeting, those have now been secure and 
locked. He stated they are now waiting on bids and since publication of the packet, he has 
learned the structural engineer report will not be complete until mid-September and their 
hope is to have a determination by then. He stated tonight the property owner is requesting 
additional time. He stated a representative for the property owner is in attendance tonight. 
 
Councilmember Longanecker asked if they have decided yet to rehab or tear it down. He 
said he thought that is what the Council is waiting on.  
 
Ms. Ashlee Yager, representative for the owners of the property stated there are a lot of 
players in this - from the owner to government to stake holders with interest in the 
property. She stated the owner wants to complete an equity analysis to know if it makes 
sense to repair and sell a habitable structure or is it too far gone that they should demolish. 
She stated the structural engineer has come out and they are working on getting a written 
report, which is due September 3rd. She stated this report will identify specific issues to 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 8  
 

Page 8 of 10 
 

address. At that time, bids for repair can go out. She stated once those costs are then 
analyzed, an equity analysis and informed decision can be made. She stated the goal is the 
middle of September. She stated there are a few action items that are out of her clients 
hands, but they are pushing to get information as soon as possible. She stated they would 
request kindness and grant an extension until the end of September. They’re hoping for the 
full project plan by October 10th.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker asked if this plan could be guaranteed by that date.  
 
She stated the hope is that they would know something by September 26th but vendors and 
contractors should for sure be in place by October 10th.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated they really just want to know what the driving direction is for this 
structure. He encouraged the owners not to wait until contractors are in place before telling 
the City what the plan is for the property. 
 
She stated she will provide updates as soon as they come through and advise the City as 
soon as info is finalized. She stated it depends though what council is asking for. She asked 
do they want to know demo or repair plan, or if they want project plan. If it’s project plan, 
that requires more time.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated he wants to know what direction the client chooses. He added Council 
is not dictating what direction the owner should choose, but Council needs to know 
something.  
 
Councilmember Conus stated he does not see why this needs to be prolonged after 
September 3rd.  
 
She stated they will not have all of the relevant information on September 3rd, only the 
structural engineer report is due then. She stated after that, they will then request bids. She 
stated they cannot make a decision until they have information on financial obligations. She 
stated they have to have finance models to view, and once they are prepared, they can 
then have an answer. She stated they would request to have until September 26th for that 
to take place.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated they want an update on September 26th.  
 
She stated she understands the bids are not of the concern of the council, but they have to 
be received for owner to understand if the building is worth repairing.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated this is the same thing they heard the first two months and no 
decisions have been made. He stated he would like to know, in good faith, what the 
decision will be. He stated the first two months in talking about this resolution they were 
working on bids, and now, they are still working on bids. He stated the City could have 
moved forward on this resolution three months go, but did not because we wanted to work 
with the property owner. He stated they are very interested to know the answer here.  

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 9  
 

Page 9 of 10 
 

 
Councilmember Malloy asked what date the structural engineer visited the property. He 
stated the report stated July 11th they were planned, but it seems like they are dragging 
their feet and keep giving the same excuses.  
 
She stated the first structural engineer fell through and the owners had to secure a second. 
She stated they might be on their third at this point.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated he is willing to go to September 26th but want a direction point by 
then. He requested motion to extend to September 26th to have finalized plan in place.  
 
Councilmember Conus moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Longanecker. 
Councilmembers were unanimously in favor of that approach. The motion was approved, 4-
0. 

 
 

WALK ON: Gardner Edgerton Student Council Request 
Representatives from the Gardner Edgerton Student Council came with a request. They 
stated this year they have set an ambitious goal to raise $9,000 to be able to give out 
homecoming shirts to every student to unify the student body. She stated they want to 
provide the shirts for free so those students that may not have the resources are able to 
participate. She stated they are requesting a $100 donation from different organizations.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated typically to have funding requests heard and approved, this would 
have had to be presented in May to get next year’s funding. He stated they missed that 
deadline for the city to give. He stated however he himself would like to challenge council to 
give $20 and if each member gives, they will have met their $100 goal. He thanked the 
students for serving on student council and being willing to step up and ask. Council 
members opened their wallets and each gave $20 to the students.  

 
 

• Discussion Regarding Residential Solid Waste Contract  
Ms. Linn stated at the end of 2024 the contract with Gardner Disposal will conclude. The 
contract language does include an option to extend the contract by two years. She asked 
Council how they would like to move forward.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated the overall public response is that Gardner Disposal is miles ahead of 
the previous providers.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker stated he would have to agree and he would like to negotiate 
an extension of the current contract if possible.  
 
The consensus of the Governing Body was to move forward in negotiation of the current 
contract with Gardner Disposal.  

 
 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
August 22, 2024 
Page 10  
 

Page 10 of 10 
 

21. Report by the Mayor 
Mayor Roberts stated he had no report to give.  
 
22. Future Meeting Reminders 
Mayor Roberts reminded the Council of the future meetings for the Council and Planning 
Commission.  
 
23. Adjourn  
Councilmember Lebakken moved to adjourn, seconded by Councilmember Longanecker. The 
meeting was adjourned at 8:10PM with a 4-0 vote. 

 
Submitted by Alex Clower, City Clerk 

DRA
FT



 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
Background/Description of Item:  
The Final PUD Plan/Plat was approved by the Planning Commission on July 9, 2024 and was 
approved by the City Council on July 25, 2024, and has not yet been recorded. On August 13, 
2024, City staff received a request from the engineer for Phase II of the Dwyer Farms subdivision 
to renumber the lots of the Phase II final plat. The previously approved final plat for Phase II 
did not begin numbering the lots of Phase II sequentially with the lot numbers from Phase I, 
resulting in Lot 1 of Phase II being next to Lot 1 of Phase I, which could lead to future confusion 
in the legal descriptions of adjacent lots.  
 
As renumbering the lots on the plat would change the legal descriptions of each future lot, the 
plat must be rereviewed and reapproved by the Planning Commission and City Council with the 
changes reflected on the face of the plat. The renumbering of the lots is the only change to the 
plat that is occurring to the face of the plat.  
 
Enclosed are the PUD2024-0101 Dwyer Farms Phase II portion of the September 10, 2024 
Planning Commission packet, and the PUD2024-0101 Dwyer Farms Phase II portion of the July 
25, 2024 City Council packet, where the Final PUD Plan/Plat was previously approved. Should 
the revised Final Plat be pulled from the Consent Agenda at the September 10, 2024 Planning 
Commission meeting, an update will be provided to the City Council at the September 12, 2024 
meeting.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 12-741, K.S.A 12-749, K.S.A. 12-752. 
 
 
Funding Source:  N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 

Agenda Item: Consider Application PUD2024-0101, Revised Final PUD 
Plan/Plat for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2, located southwest of the intersection 
of Braun Street/207th Street and W. 8th Street/Edgerton Road, Edgerton, 
Kansas. 



 

 
Enclosed: 

• September 10, 2024 Planning Commission Packet – PUD2024-0101 Dwyer Farms Phase 
II portion only 

• July 25, 2024 City Council Packet – PUD2024-0101 Dwyer Farms Phase II portion only 
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Recommendation: Approve Application PUD2024-0101, Revised Final PUD 
Plan/Plat for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2, located southwest of the intersection 
of Braun/207th Street and 8th Street/Edgerton Road, Edgerton, Kansas. 



 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
Date:  September 10, 2024 
 
To:  City of Edgerton Planning Commission  
 
From:  Chris Clinton, Planning and Zoning Coordinator 
 
Re: Revision to the PUD2024-0101 Final Plat 
 
The final plat for ‘Dwyer Farms Phase II’ was approved by Planning Commission on July 9, 2024 and was 
approved by the City Council on August 8, 2024, and has not yet been recorded. On August 13, 2024, City 
staff received a request from the engineer for Phase II of the Dwyer Farms subdivision to renumber the 
lots of the Phase II plat. The Engineer stated that the numbering of the lots from Phase I was not continued 
onto the second plat resulting in Lot 1 of the first plat adjacent to Lot 1 of the second plat, which could 
lead to future confusion in the legal descriptions of adjacent lots being very similar to each other. After 
consulting with the City Attorney, the renumbering of the plat would change the legal description of each 
lot and therefore must be rereviewed by the Planning Commission and reapproved by the Governing Body. 
The renumbering of the lots is the only change being made to the plat. Enclosed is the original packet for 
Planning Unit Development PUD2024-0101, which includes the Final Plat, and the revised Final Plat.  
 
Staff recommends approval of the revised plat, as stipulated in the enclosed Planning Commission packet.  
 
Attachments:  

 Revised ‘Dwyer Farms Phase II’ Final Plat 
 July 9, 2024 PUD2024-0101 Planning Commission Packet 





 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
July 9, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 6 

 
DWYER FARMS, PHASE II 
 

Application PUD2024-0101   
Southwest Corner of 207th Street/Braun Street and 8th Street/Edgerton Road 

 
 

QUICK FACTS   
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
AND REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant requests 
approval of a Final 
Planned Unit 
Development Plan/Plat 
for single-family 
residential development.  

 
Owner and Applicant 
Josh Carson, Agent of 
ARG Land Holdings, LLC 
 
Existing Zoning and 
Land Use 
Currently zoned PUD 
(Planned Unit 
Development) with no 
current development on 
the subject property. 
 
 
Parcel Size 
23.80± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 
  



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 2 of 6 

BACKGROUND 

1. Proposal 
The Applicant, ARG Land Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of Rausch Coleman Homes, has 
submitted a Final PUD Plan and Plat for a 23.80-acre parcel of land at the southwest corner 
of 8th Street/Edgerton Road and Braun Street/207th Street. This is the second phase of the 
subdivision of Dwyer Farms, which overall will consist of 275 single-family homes. Article VI 
of the UDC, Section 6.2, requires that the Planning Commission review the Final Development 
Plan and Plat prior to the Governing Body’s review and consideration. This application does 
not require a public hearing.  
 

2. Subject Site 
The subject property was annexed into the City of Edgerton on April 14, 2022 and was later 
zoned to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) on August 11, 2022 under the terms and 
conditions of Ordinance 2113. Also on August 11, 2022, the Governing Body of Edgerton 
approved the Conceptual Plan for the Dwyer Farms Planned Unit Development (PUD2022-01), 
which this Final PUD Plan/Plat is consistent with. This proposal is the second development 
proposal on the subject property that the City has received. The first phase of the development 
was approved by the Planning Commission on June 13, 2023. That development is still on 
going.  

 
3. Lots and Tracts 

The applicant is proposing 105 single-family residential lots and one (1) common tract. The 
lots in this phase will range from 6,000 square feet to 10,707 square feet, with an average lot 
size of 7,428 square feet. The proposed tract, Tract A, will be used for monument signage for 
the subdivision and will be maintained by the Homeowners’ Association (HOA).  

 

PUD REVIEW 

1. Standards for Planned Unit Developments 
Section 6.1.C of the Unified Development Code (UDC) sets requirements for all Planned Unit 
Developments (PUD). City staff reviewed the application in accordance with the requirements 
of the UDC. 
 
a. Comprehensive Plan: The UDC requires the proposed development to conform with the 

objectives of the Comprehensive Plan of Edgerton. The proposal of a 105-lot phase of a 
subdivision directly aligns with the Future Land Use Map designation of the property as 
‘Low-to-Medium Density Residential.’ The proposal also aligns with many goals, policies, 
and action items in the Comprehensive Plan. Those goals, policies, and action items 
include, but are not limited to: 
a. Goal 2.4: “Coordinate land use planning with transportation and other public 

investments.” 
i. Policy 2.4.1: “Limit the use of cul-de-sacs and dead-end streets to promote 

connectivity when approving new development.” 
ii. Policy 2.4.2: “Promote new development to include collector streets to help with 

circulation within and into the site.” 
b. Goal 4.1: “Increase housing diversity in Edgerton.” 
c. Goal 4.2: “Promote best practices for all proposed residential development.” 

i. Policy 4.2.3: “Plan for appropriate infrastructure to support development.” 
 

 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 3 of 6 

Figure 1 Future Land Use Map 
 

 
 

Figure 1 – Subject Property Outlined in Blue 
 

b. Compatibility: The proposed use of single-family homes and associated open space is 
compatible with the surrounding development, as is required by the UDC, and will not 
have a detrimental influence on the surrounding properties.  

 
c. Net Density: Table 1 below shows the net density of the Conceptual PUD (PUD2022-01) 

as approved by the Governing Body and how it relates to Phases I & II of the Dwyer 
Farms development. The densities, measured in dwelling units per acre (du/ac), of Phases 
I and II combined is consistent with the approved Conceptual Plan. 
 
Table 1 

Conceptual PUD 
(PUD2022-01) 

Phase I 
(PUD2023-01) 

Phase II 
(PUD2024-0101) 

Phases I & II 
Combined 

3.42 du/ac 2.61 du/ac 4.41 du/ac 3.33 du/acre 
 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Downtown 
Transitional  

Neighborhood Commercial 

Mixed-Use 

Mixed-Use 

Gateway 
Commercial 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 4 of 6 

d. Site Ownership: The UDC requires the site be under single ownership or unified 
control. The subject 23.80± acres of land is under one common ownership. 
 

e. Space Between Buildings: A reduction in the minimum separation between single-
family detached dwelling units from 16 feet to 10 feet was approved with the Conceptual 
PUD Plan (PUD2022-01), with the stipulation that fire-rated materials be used during 
construction. The applicant has not changed this request and a stipulation requiring fire-
rated construction materials has been added as a stipulation to staff’s recommendation.  
 

f. Yards: The following lot sizes and setbacks were approved in PUD Conceptual Plan 
PUD2022-01 and will apply as the minimum district standards for development subject to 
Ordinance 2113:  

 
DIMENSION PUD2022-01 

Interior Lot Width 50 feet 
Front Yard Setback 28 feet 
Rear Yard Setback 20 feet 
Side Yard Setback 5 feet 

Corner Yard Setback 15 feet 
 

The development proposal will use the same proposed lot widths and setbacks that the 
applicant requested and was approved with the Conceptual Plan (PUD2022-01). As 
stipulated in the PUD Conceptual Plan, the requested and approved 5-foot side yard 
setbacks remain with this proposal, provided that fire-rated materials are used during 
construction. This is recommended as a stipulation of approval with this proposal, as is 
mentioned in Section e above.  

 
g. Parking Standards: Adequate parking will be provided for each single-family home 

constructed in this phase, as each home will have a two- or three-car garage, and two 
spaces in the driveway. This is consistent with what was approved with the Conceptual 
PUD Plan (PUD2022-01) 

 
h. Traffic: The applicant provided a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) with their Conceptual PUD 

Plan (PUD2022-01), which identified that no turn lanes into the site would be warranted 
with the development of this subdivision. Each lot in this subdivision will have direct access 
to a public street on the interior of the development, and no lot will have direct vehicular 
access to either 8th Street or Braun Street. The road network internal to the site will provide 
access to both 8th Street and Braun Street, and there will be two (2) street stubs internal 
to the site, that will provide connections to future phases. There is an additional street 
stub that terminates the proposed 208th Street at the property line. Another development 
to the west could connect to this stub if that developer chooses to do so. 

 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

1. Landscape Plan and Signage 
The applicant has provided a landscape plan, as is required by the Unified Development Code 
(UDC). Each proposed lot has one tree proposed in the front yard and each of the internal 
tracts are lined with deciduous trees. Braun Street will have trees planted where residential 
lots are adjacent to the right-of-way. The monument sign was approved earlier in 2024 by the 
Planning Commission as part of application PUD2024-0100. As part of the approval of that 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 5 of 6 

application, it was stipulated that a landscape plan must be provided and approved by the 
Zoning Administrator. The landscape was provided and has been approved.  

 
2. Sidewalk, Paths, and Cycle Trails 

A sidewalk will be provided on one side of all internal public streets by the developer and a 
sidewalk will be constructed by the City on the south side of Braun Street, which the applicant 
has agreed to dedicate right-of-way for. The size and location of the sidewalks along Braun 
Street are to be determined by the City in the future.  

 
3. Housing Styles 

In the PUD Conceptual Plan PUD2023-01, the applicant provided five (5) models that could 
be used as possible floorplans for buyers to select from. The applicant has not provided any 
floorplans for this phase. The floorplans must be provided prior to the approval of the Final 
Plat and certification of the Zoning Administrator.   

 
4. Stormwater 

The applicant has submitted a stormwater study that has been reviewed. The City Engineer 
is requiring a resubmittal of the stormwater study as there is conflicting information in the 
report. The stormwater study must be approved prior to the Final Plat being certified by the 
Zoning Administrator.  

 
5. Public Infrastructure 

Plans have been submitted for public infrastructure. The City Engineer has been working 
with the applicant to ensure that all City standards are met. All comments and details must 
be approved by the City prior to the start of any public infrastructure construction. 

 

PLAT DOCUMENT REVIEW – UDC SECTIONS 6.4.A.3 AND 13.3.G 

 
A part of the Final PUD is the Final Plat for the subject parcel. The Final Plat must meet all of 
the requirements in Section 6.4.A and Section 13.3.G of the UDC in addition to the Johnson 
County Subdivision Plat requirements. The City Engineer is reviewing all of the public 
infrastructure plans in conjunction of the plat. If additional easements or rights-of-way are 
needed for the public infrastructure, it must be provided on the plat. The final plat will not be 
certified by the Zoning Administrator until all public infrastructure plans have been approved 
by the City Engineer.  

 

NOTICE OF CITY CODES AND PERMITS 

 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and 
Sign Code. The Applicant is also subject to all applicable local, State, and Federal laws.  
 
Various permits may be required in order to complete this project. Please contact the Building 
Codes Division of the Community Development Department for more information about City 
permits. The project may also be subject to obtaining permits and/or approvals from other 
local, County, State, or Federal agencies. 

 
 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 6 of 6 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

Application Application for PUD2024-0101 April 23, 2024 
1 Final Plat - Dwyer Farms, Unit 1 June 2024 
2 Sheet 3 – Site Plan June 26, 2024 
3 Sheet 4 – Utility Plan June 26, 2024 
4 Sheet 20 – Grading Plan June 26, 2024 
5 Sheet 21 – Grading Plan June 26, 2024 
6 Sheet 65 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
7 Sheet 66 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
8 Sheet 67 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
9 Sheet 68 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of PUD Final Plan/Plat Application PUD2024-0101 for Dwyer 
Farms, Phase II, as submitted, subject to the following stipulations: 
 
1. Prior to the plat being recorded, the following must occur: 

a. Floorplans for the models of home to be constructed during this Phase must be provided. 
b. The stormwater study must be approved by the City Engineer. 
c. Public infrastructure plans must be approved by the City Engineer. Any necessary changes 

to the plat based on the review of those plans must be made prior to plat recording.  
d. The exterior corner in the boundary of a subdivision of land must be monumented prior 

to the recording of the plat. 
2. Fire-rated materials must be used in construction of homes in lieu of the Planning Commission 

and Governing Body permitting a 5-foot side yard setback and minimum 10-foot separation 
between buildings.  

 
Note: For Application PUD2024-0101 the Planning Commission will be recommending 
either approval or denial of the application to the Governing Body. If the Planning 
Commission recommends approval, the Application will be presented to the  
Governing Body on July 25, 2024. 



Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

NAME OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD):

LOCATION OR ADDRESS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:

ASSOCIATED PUD CONCEPTUAL PLAN APPLICATION:
                   

CURRENT SITE OWNERSHIP:     PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                  City                           State           Zip

PROPOSED SITE OWNERSHIP:                  PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                  City                       State  Zip

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT’S NAME(S):                                   PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                                    City    State  Zip

SIGNATURE OF OWNER OR AGENT:
	 	 	 	 																If	not	signed	by	owner,	authorization	of	agent	must	accompany	this	application.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Case	No.:	PUD-	 	 	 Amount	Paid:	 	 	 		Date	Paid:	 	 	 		Receipt	#:

Planning	Commission	Meeting	Date:	 	 	 	 Council	Meeting	Date:	 	 	 	

Received	By: 

404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org
v3.15.22

Dwyer Farms, Phase II

Sec 13 - T15S - R21E

 PUD2024-01

Josh Carson - Manager 479-455-9090

ARG Land Holdings, LLC josh.carson@rch.com

4058 N. College Ave., Ste. 300, Fayetteville, AR 72704

Lee Ryherd 913-444-9615

SMH Consultants lryherd@smhconsultants.com

5201 Johnson Drive, Suite 405  Mission, KS 66205

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E



404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org

PUD INSTRUCTIONS

Approval	of	a	Planned	Unit	Development	proposal	shall	follow	the	procedures	used	for	a	change	to	the	official	zoning	map	as	
outlined	in	Article	9	of	the	Unified	Development	Code	of	the	City	of	Edgerton	(UDC)	–	Land	Use	Determination	Procedures.	
SUBMITTAL DEADLINE:		The	applicant	shall	submit	an	application	at	least	forty-nine	(49)	calendar	days	prior	to	the	meeting.

PUD Final Application Checklist 
The	PUD	application	will	not	be	considered	complete	until	all	of	the	following	items	have	been	received.

	 Completed	PUD	application	with	the	associated	fees:
• Final	Plan/Final	Plat	Fee	-	$300	plus	$5.00	per	lot
• If	special	planning,	engineering,	architectural	or	other	consultants	must	be	retained	by	the	City	for	review	of	the	

proposed		Planned	Unit	Development,	the	petitioner	shall	be	so	notified,	and	all	costs	for	said	consultants	expended	
by	the	City	-	not	covered	by	the	filing	fee	-	shall	be	reimbursed	by	the	petitioner.

Legal	Description	–	a	word	document	containing	the	legal	description	of	the	property	will	be	submitted	with	an	electronic	
copy	of	the	Conceptual	Plan.

 
A	Final	Plan	and	Final	Plat	submitted	in	accordance	with	Article	6	of	the	UDC	–	Planned	Unit	Development	District,	shall		 	
include	the	following:

1.	 Accurate	legal	description	of:
	 	 a)		 The	entire	area	under	immediate	development	within	the	planned	development.
	 	 b)		 Each	separate	unsubdivided	use	area,	including	common	open	space.

2.	 Planned	Unit	Development	Plat	of	all	lands	which	are	part	of	the	Final	Plat	being	submitted	and	which		 	 	
	 meets	all	the	requirements	for	a	Final	Plat	as	outlined	in	UDC	Article	13	–	Subdivision	Approval	Procedures

3.	 Designation	of	the	location	of	the	building	pads,	or	areas,	or	setback	lines	or	setback	standards	for	all		 	 	
	 buildings	to	be	constructed.

4.	 Certificates,	seals,	and	signatures	required	for	the	dedication	of	lands,	and	recording	the	document.

5.	 Tabulation	of	separate	unsubdivided	use	area	including	land	area,	number	of	buildings,	number	of	dwelling	units,		 	
	 and	dwelling	units	per	acre.	

6.	 Common	Open	Space	Documents.		All	common	open	space	shall	be	either	conveyed	a	not-for-profit	corporation	or		
	 entity	established	for	the	purpose	of	benefiting	the	owners	and	residents	of	the	Planned	Unit	Development,	or		 	
	 retained	by	the	developer	with	legally	binding	guarantees,	in	a	form	approved	by	the	City	Attorney,	verifying	that		 	
	 the	common	open	space	will	permanently	be	preserved	as	open	area.	All	land	conveyed	to	a	not-for-profit		 	 	
	 corporation	or	like	entity	shall	be	subject	to	the	right	of	said	corporation	to	impose	a	legally	enforceable		 	 	
	 lien	for	maintenance	and	improvement	of	the	common	open	space.	
 
7.	 Final	Systems	Plans.		Final	plans,	with	all	required	detail,	shall	be	submitted,	including:
	 a)		 Engineering	plans	showing	how	the	site	is	to	be	serviced	with	sewer,	water,	well,	and/or	septic	systems		 	
	 	 (as	agreed	to	during	the	Preliminary	Plat	Stage).	
	 b)		 Lighting	plans.
	 c)		 Drainage	and	storm	water	retention	and	detention	plans.
	 d)		 Road	plans,	including	curbs	and	gutters,	on-site/off-site	signalization,	acceleration,	deceleration	lanes,	etc	 	
	 e)		 Sidewalk,	paths,	and	cycle	trails.

8.	 Landscape	Plans	showing	the	type	and	location	of	plant	material,	berms,	and	other	aesthetic	treatments.

Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E



9.	 Public	Facilities.		All	on-site	and/or	off-site	public	facilities	and	improvements	made	necessary	as	a	result	of	the		 	
	 Planned	Unit	Development	shall	be	either	constructed	in	advance	of	the	approval	of	the	Final	Plat	or	 
	 subdivider’s	bond	or	approved	letters	of	credit	posted	to	guarantee	construction	of	the	required	improvements.		 	
	 The	subdivider’s	bond	or	approved	letters	of	credit,	payable	to	the	City	of	Edgerton,	shall	be	sufficient	to	cover	the			
	 full	cost	of	the	improvements	plus	ten	(10)	percent.	Detailed	construction	plans	shall	be	submitted			 	 	
	 for	all	public	facilities	to	be	built.

10.	 Construction	Plans	shall	be	submitted	for	the	design,	construction,	or	installation	of	site	amenities;	including		 	
	 buildings,	landscaping,	lakes,	and	other	site	improvements.

11.	 Construction	Schedule.		A	final	construction	schedule	shall	be	submitted	for	that	portion	of	the	Planned	Unit		 	
	 Development	for	which	approval	is	being	requested.	

12.	Delinquent	Taxes.		A	certificate	shall	be	furnished	from	the	appropriate	County	official	that	no	delinquent	taxes		 	
	 exist	and	that	all	special	assessments	constituting	a	lien	on	the	whole	or	any	part	of	the	property	of	the	Planned		 	
	 Unit	Development	have	been	paid.

13.	 Covenants.		Final	agreements,	provisions,	or	covenants	which	will	govern	the	use,	maintenance	and	continued		 	
	 protection	of	the	Planned	Unit	Development	shall	be	approved	by	the	City	and	recorded	at	the	same	time		 	 	
	 as	the	Final	Planned	Unit	Development	Plat.

404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org

Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E





















 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: July 25, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
Background/Description of Item:  
 
Rausch Coleman Homes submitted Application PUD2024-0101, for a Final PUD Plan/Plat of 
Dwyer Farms, Phase 2 at the southwest corner of Braun Street/ 207th Street and 8th 
Street/Edgerton Road. This proposal is the second phase of a phased development of single-
family homes that will include 275 residences when completed. This phase includes 105 single-
family residential lots and one (1) common tract on 23.80± acres, equating to a net density of 
4.41 units per acre. The common tract will all be owned and maintained by the Homeowner’s 
Association and will be used for landscaping and a subdivision monument sign.  
 
Included with this Final PUD Plan/Plat application is the request to accept the dedication of land 
for public use for Utility Easements (U/E), Drainage Easements (D/E), Ingress-Egress Easements 
(I/E.E), Sanitary Sewer Easements (S/E) and public street right-of-way for Braun Street/W. 207th 
Street, as well as the road network on the interior of the development.  
 
The subject 23.80± acre parcel of land was annexed into the City of Edgerton in April 2022, and 
was subsequently rezoned to the PUD District (ZA2022-01) in August 2022. The Conceptual PUD 
Plan was also approved by the Governing Body in August 2022 with Ordinance 2114 (attached), 
and this Final PUD Plan/Plat is consistent with the previously approved Conceptual PUD 
(PUD2022-01).  
 
The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of PUD2024-0101, the Final PUD 
Plan/Plat for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2 at their July 9, 2024 meeting.  
 
City staff has reviewed the Final PUD Plan/Plat submittal for conformance with the approved 
Conceptual PUD Plan and requirements in Articles 6 and 13 of the Edgerton UDC. The applicant’s 
engineer will update the Final Plat as required by stipulations listed in the staff report prior to 
the Final Plat being recorded with the County. This Final Plat has been reviewed by the City 
Engineer and found to be in compliance with City Code requirements.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 12-741, K.S.A 12-749, K.S.A. 12-752. 
 

Agenda Item: Consider Application PUD2024-0101, Final PUD Plan/Plat 
for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2, located southwest of the intersection of Braun 
Street/207th Street and W. 8th Street/Edgerton Road, Edgerton, Kansas. 



 
Funding Source:  N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 

 
Enclosed: 

• Ordinance 2114, approving PUD2022-01. 
• PUD2024-0101 Planning Commission Packet from July 9, 2024 Meeting 
• Excerpt of July 9, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes – PUD2024-0101 

portion only.  
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Recommendation: Approve Application PUD2024-0101, Final PUD 
Plan/Plat for Dwyer Farms, Phase 2, located southwest of the intersection 
of Braun/207th Street and 8th Street/Edgerton Road, Edgerton, Kansas. 







 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
July 9, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 6 

 
DWYER FARMS, PHASE II 
 

Application PUD2024-0101   
Southwest Corner of 207th Street/Braun Street and 8th Street/Edgerton Road 

 
 

QUICK FACTS   
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
AND REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant requests 
approval of a Final 
Planned Unit 
Development Plan/Plat 
for single-family 
residential development.  

 
Owner and Applicant 
Josh Carson, Agent of 
ARG Land Holdings, LLC 
 
Existing Zoning and 
Land Use 
Currently zoned PUD 
(Planned Unit 
Development) with no 
current development on 
the subject property. 
 
 
Parcel Size 
23.80± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 
  



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 2 of 6 

BACKGROUND 

1. Proposal 
The Applicant, ARG Land Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of Rausch Coleman Homes, has 
submitted a Final PUD Plan and Plat for a 23.80-acre parcel of land at the southwest corner 
of 8th Street/Edgerton Road and Braun Street/207th Street. This is the second phase of the 
subdivision of Dwyer Farms, which overall will consist of 275 single-family homes. Article VI 
of the UDC, Section 6.2, requires that the Planning Commission review the Final Development 
Plan and Plat prior to the Governing Body’s review and consideration. This application does 
not require a public hearing.  
 

2. Subject Site 
The subject property was annexed into the City of Edgerton on April 14, 2022 and was later 
zoned to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) on August 11, 2022 under the terms and 
conditions of Ordinance 2113. Also on August 11, 2022, the Governing Body of Edgerton 
approved the Conceptual Plan for the Dwyer Farms Planned Unit Development (PUD2022-01), 
which this Final PUD Plan/Plat is consistent with. This proposal is the second development 
proposal on the subject property that the City has received. The first phase of the development 
was approved by the Planning Commission on June 13, 2023. That development is still on 
going.  

 
3. Lots and Tracts 

The applicant is proposing 105 single-family residential lots and one (1) common tract. The 
lots in this phase will range from 6,000 square feet to 10,707 square feet, with an average lot 
size of 7,428 square feet. The proposed tract, Tract A, will be used for monument signage for 
the subdivision and will be maintained by the Homeowners’ Association (HOA).  

 

PUD REVIEW 

1. Standards for Planned Unit Developments 
Section 6.1.C of the Unified Development Code (UDC) sets requirements for all Planned Unit 
Developments (PUD). City staff reviewed the application in accordance with the requirements 
of the UDC. 
 
a. Comprehensive Plan: The UDC requires the proposed development to conform with the 

objectives of the Comprehensive Plan of Edgerton. The proposal of a 105-lot phase of a 
subdivision directly aligns with the Future Land Use Map designation of the property as 
‘Low-to-Medium Density Residential.’ The proposal also aligns with many goals, policies, 
and action items in the Comprehensive Plan. Those goals, policies, and action items 
include, but are not limited to: 
a. Goal 2.4: “Coordinate land use planning with transportation and other public 

investments.” 
i. Policy 2.4.1: “Limit the use of cul-de-sacs and dead-end streets to promote 

connectivity when approving new development.” 
ii. Policy 2.4.2: “Promote new development to include collector streets to help with 

circulation within and into the site.” 
b. Goal 4.1: “Increase housing diversity in Edgerton.” 
c. Goal 4.2: “Promote best practices for all proposed residential development.” 

i. Policy 4.2.3: “Plan for appropriate infrastructure to support development.” 
 

 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 3 of 6 

Figure 1 Future Land Use Map 
 

 
 

Figure 1 – Subject Property Outlined in Blue 
 

b. Compatibility: The proposed use of single-family homes and associated open space is 
compatible with the surrounding development, as is required by the UDC, and will not 
have a detrimental influence on the surrounding properties.  

 
c. Net Density: Table 1 below shows the net density of the Conceptual PUD (PUD2022-01) 

as approved by the Governing Body and how it relates to Phases I & II of the Dwyer 
Farms development. The densities, measured in dwelling units per acre (du/ac), of Phases 
I and II combined is consistent with the approved Conceptual Plan. 
 
Table 1 

Conceptual PUD 
(PUD2022-01) 

Phase I 
(PUD2023-01) 

Phase II 
(PUD2024-0101) 

Phases I & II 
Combined 

3.42 du/ac 2.61 du/ac 4.41 du/ac 3.33 du/acre 
 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Low-to-Medium Density 
Residential 

Downtown 
Transitional  

Neighborhood Commercial 

Mixed-Use 

Mixed-Use 

Gateway 
Commercial 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 4 of 6 

d. Site Ownership: The UDC requires the site be under single ownership or unified 
control. The subject 23.80± acres of land is under one common ownership. 
 

e. Space Between Buildings: A reduction in the minimum separation between single-
family detached dwelling units from 16 feet to 10 feet was approved with the Conceptual 
PUD Plan (PUD2022-01), with the stipulation that fire-rated materials be used during 
construction. The applicant has not changed this request and a stipulation requiring fire-
rated construction materials has been added as a stipulation to staff’s recommendation.  
 

f. Yards: The following lot sizes and setbacks were approved in PUD Conceptual Plan 
PUD2022-01 and will apply as the minimum district standards for development subject to 
Ordinance 2113:  

 
DIMENSION PUD2022-01 

Interior Lot Width 50 feet 
Front Yard Setback 28 feet 
Rear Yard Setback 20 feet 
Side Yard Setback 5 feet 

Corner Yard Setback 15 feet 
 

The development proposal will use the same proposed lot widths and setbacks that the 
applicant requested and was approved with the Conceptual Plan (PUD2022-01). As 
stipulated in the PUD Conceptual Plan, the requested and approved 5-foot side yard 
setbacks remain with this proposal, provided that fire-rated materials are used during 
construction. This is recommended as a stipulation of approval with this proposal, as is 
mentioned in Section e above.  

 
g. Parking Standards: Adequate parking will be provided for each single-family home 

constructed in this phase, as each home will have a two- or three-car garage, and two 
spaces in the driveway. This is consistent with what was approved with the Conceptual 
PUD Plan (PUD2022-01) 

 
h. Traffic: The applicant provided a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) with their Conceptual PUD 

Plan (PUD2022-01), which identified that no turn lanes into the site would be warranted 
with the development of this subdivision. Each lot in this subdivision will have direct access 
to a public street on the interior of the development, and no lot will have direct vehicular 
access to either 8th Street or Braun Street. The road network internal to the site will provide 
access to both 8th Street and Braun Street, and there will be two (2) street stubs internal 
to the site, that will provide connections to future phases. There is an additional street 
stub that terminates the proposed 208th Street at the property line. Another development 
to the west could connect to this stub if that developer chooses to do so. 

 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

1. Landscape Plan and Signage 
The applicant has provided a landscape plan, as is required by the Unified Development Code 
(UDC). Each proposed lot has one tree proposed in the front yard and each of the internal 
tracts are lined with deciduous trees. Braun Street will have trees planted where residential 
lots are adjacent to the right-of-way. The monument sign was approved earlier in 2024 by the 
Planning Commission as part of application PUD2024-0100. As part of the approval of that 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 5 of 6 

application, it was stipulated that a landscape plan must be provided and approved by the 
Zoning Administrator. The landscape was provided and has been approved.  

 
2. Sidewalk, Paths, and Cycle Trails 

A sidewalk will be provided on one side of all internal public streets by the developer and a 
sidewalk will be constructed by the City on the south side of Braun Street, which the applicant 
has agreed to dedicate right-of-way for. The size and location of the sidewalks along Braun 
Street are to be determined by the City in the future.  

 
3. Housing Styles 

In the PUD Conceptual Plan PUD2023-01, the applicant provided five (5) models that could 
be used as possible floorplans for buyers to select from. The applicant has not provided any 
floorplans for this phase. The floorplans must be provided prior to the approval of the Final 
Plat and certification of the Zoning Administrator.   

 
4. Stormwater 

The applicant has submitted a stormwater study that has been reviewed. The City Engineer 
is requiring a resubmittal of the stormwater study as there is conflicting information in the 
report. The stormwater study must be approved prior to the Final Plat being certified by the 
Zoning Administrator.  

 
5. Public Infrastructure 

Plans have been submitted for public infrastructure. The City Engineer has been working 
with the applicant to ensure that all City standards are met. All comments and details must 
be approved by the City prior to the start of any public infrastructure construction. 

 

PLAT DOCUMENT REVIEW – UDC SECTIONS 6.4.A.3 AND 13.3.G 

 
A part of the Final PUD is the Final Plat for the subject parcel. The Final Plat must meet all of 
the requirements in Section 6.4.A and Section 13.3.G of the UDC in addition to the Johnson 
County Subdivision Plat requirements. The City Engineer is reviewing all of the public 
infrastructure plans in conjunction of the plat. If additional easements or rights-of-way are 
needed for the public infrastructure, it must be provided on the plat. The final plat will not be 
certified by the Zoning Administrator until all public infrastructure plans have been approved 
by the City Engineer.  

 

NOTICE OF CITY CODES AND PERMITS 

 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and 
Sign Code. The Applicant is also subject to all applicable local, State, and Federal laws.  
 
Various permits may be required in order to complete this project. Please contact the Building 
Codes Division of the Community Development Department for more information about City 
permits. The project may also be subject to obtaining permits and/or approvals from other 
local, County, State, or Federal agencies. 

 
 



  Application PUD2024-0101  
Edgerton Planning Commission – July 9, 2024 
 

Page 6 of 6 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

Application Application for PUD2024-0101 April 23, 2024 
1 Final Plat - Dwyer Farms, Unit 1 June 2024 
2 Sheet 3 – Site Plan June 26, 2024 
3 Sheet 4 – Utility Plan June 26, 2024 
4 Sheet 20 – Grading Plan June 26, 2024 
5 Sheet 21 – Grading Plan June 26, 2024 
6 Sheet 65 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
7 Sheet 66 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
8 Sheet 67 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 
9 Sheet 68 – Landscape Plan May 22, 2024 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of PUD Final Plan/Plat Application PUD2024-0101 for Dwyer 
Farms, Phase II, as submitted, subject to the following stipulations: 
 
1. Prior to the plat being recorded, the following must occur: 

a. Floorplans for the models of home to be constructed during this Phase must be provided. 
b. The stormwater study must be approved by the City Engineer. 
c. Public infrastructure plans must be approved by the City Engineer. Any necessary changes 

to the plat based on the review of those plans must be made prior to plat recording.  
d. The exterior corner in the boundary of a subdivision of land must be monumented prior 

to the recording of the plat. 
2. Fire-rated materials must be used in construction of homes in lieu of the Planning Commission 

and Governing Body permitting a 5-foot side yard setback and minimum 10-foot separation 
between buildings.  

 
Note: For Application PUD2024-0101 the Planning Commission will be recommending 
either approval or denial of the application to the Governing Body. If the Planning 
Commission recommends approval, the Application will be presented to the  
Governing Body on July 25, 2024. 



Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

NAME OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD):

LOCATION OR ADDRESS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:

ASSOCIATED PUD CONCEPTUAL PLAN APPLICATION:
                   

CURRENT SITE OWNERSHIP:     PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                  City                           State           Zip

PROPOSED SITE OWNERSHIP:                  PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                  City                       State  Zip

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT’S NAME(S):                                   PHONE:

COMPANY:        EMAIL:

MAILING ADDRESS:
   Street                                                    City    State  Zip

SIGNATURE OF OWNER OR AGENT:
	 	 	 	 																If	not	signed	by	owner,	authorization	of	agent	must	accompany	this	application.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Case	No.:	PUD-	 	 	 Amount	Paid:	 	 	 		Date	Paid:	 	 	 		Receipt	#:

Planning	Commission	Meeting	Date:	 	 	 	 Council	Meeting	Date:	 	 	 	

Received	By: 

404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org
v3.15.22

Dwyer Farms, Phase II

Sec 13 - T15S - R21E

 PUD2024-01

Josh Carson - Manager 479-455-9090

ARG Land Holdings, LLC josh.carson@rch.com

4058 N. College Ave., Ste. 300, Fayetteville, AR 72704

Lee Ryherd 913-444-9615

SMH Consultants lryherd@smhconsultants.com

5201 Johnson Drive, Suite 405  Mission, KS 66205

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E



404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org

PUD INSTRUCTIONS

Approval	of	a	Planned	Unit	Development	proposal	shall	follow	the	procedures	used	for	a	change	to	the	official	zoning	map	as	
outlined	in	Article	9	of	the	Unified	Development	Code	of	the	City	of	Edgerton	(UDC)	–	Land	Use	Determination	Procedures.	
SUBMITTAL DEADLINE:		The	applicant	shall	submit	an	application	at	least	forty-nine	(49)	calendar	days	prior	to	the	meeting.

PUD Final Application Checklist 
The	PUD	application	will	not	be	considered	complete	until	all	of	the	following	items	have	been	received.

	 Completed	PUD	application	with	the	associated	fees:
• Final	Plan/Final	Plat	Fee	-	$300	plus	$5.00	per	lot
• If	special	planning,	engineering,	architectural	or	other	consultants	must	be	retained	by	the	City	for	review	of	the	

proposed		Planned	Unit	Development,	the	petitioner	shall	be	so	notified,	and	all	costs	for	said	consultants	expended	
by	the	City	-	not	covered	by	the	filing	fee	-	shall	be	reimbursed	by	the	petitioner.

Legal	Description	–	a	word	document	containing	the	legal	description	of	the	property	will	be	submitted	with	an	electronic	
copy	of	the	Conceptual	Plan.

 
A	Final	Plan	and	Final	Plat	submitted	in	accordance	with	Article	6	of	the	UDC	–	Planned	Unit	Development	District,	shall		 	
include	the	following:

1.	 Accurate	legal	description	of:
	 	 a)		 The	entire	area	under	immediate	development	within	the	planned	development.
	 	 b)		 Each	separate	unsubdivided	use	area,	including	common	open	space.

2.	 Planned	Unit	Development	Plat	of	all	lands	which	are	part	of	the	Final	Plat	being	submitted	and	which		 	 	
	 meets	all	the	requirements	for	a	Final	Plat	as	outlined	in	UDC	Article	13	–	Subdivision	Approval	Procedures

3.	 Designation	of	the	location	of	the	building	pads,	or	areas,	or	setback	lines	or	setback	standards	for	all		 	 	
	 buildings	to	be	constructed.

4.	 Certificates,	seals,	and	signatures	required	for	the	dedication	of	lands,	and	recording	the	document.

5.	 Tabulation	of	separate	unsubdivided	use	area	including	land	area,	number	of	buildings,	number	of	dwelling	units,		 	
	 and	dwelling	units	per	acre.	

6.	 Common	Open	Space	Documents.		All	common	open	space	shall	be	either	conveyed	a	not-for-profit	corporation	or		
	 entity	established	for	the	purpose	of	benefiting	the	owners	and	residents	of	the	Planned	Unit	Development,	or		 	
	 retained	by	the	developer	with	legally	binding	guarantees,	in	a	form	approved	by	the	City	Attorney,	verifying	that		 	
	 the	common	open	space	will	permanently	be	preserved	as	open	area.	All	land	conveyed	to	a	not-for-profit		 	 	
	 corporation	or	like	entity	shall	be	subject	to	the	right	of	said	corporation	to	impose	a	legally	enforceable		 	 	
	 lien	for	maintenance	and	improvement	of	the	common	open	space.	
 
7.	 Final	Systems	Plans.		Final	plans,	with	all	required	detail,	shall	be	submitted,	including:
	 a)		 Engineering	plans	showing	how	the	site	is	to	be	serviced	with	sewer,	water,	well,	and/or	septic	systems		 	
	 	 (as	agreed	to	during	the	Preliminary	Plat	Stage).	
	 b)		 Lighting	plans.
	 c)		 Drainage	and	storm	water	retention	and	detention	plans.
	 d)		 Road	plans,	including	curbs	and	gutters,	on-site/off-site	signalization,	acceleration,	deceleration	lanes,	etc	 	
	 e)		 Sidewalk,	paths,	and	cycle	trails.

8.	 Landscape	Plans	showing	the	type	and	location	of	plant	material,	berms,	and	other	aesthetic	treatments.

Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E



9.	 Public	Facilities.		All	on-site	and/or	off-site	public	facilities	and	improvements	made	necessary	as	a	result	of	the		 	
	 Planned	Unit	Development	shall	be	either	constructed	in	advance	of	the	approval	of	the	Final	Plat	or	 
	 subdivider’s	bond	or	approved	letters	of	credit	posted	to	guarantee	construction	of	the	required	improvements.		 	
	 The	subdivider’s	bond	or	approved	letters	of	credit,	payable	to	the	City	of	Edgerton,	shall	be	sufficient	to	cover	the			
	 full	cost	of	the	improvements	plus	ten	(10)	percent.	Detailed	construction	plans	shall	be	submitted			 	 	
	 for	all	public	facilities	to	be	built.

10.	 Construction	Plans	shall	be	submitted	for	the	design,	construction,	or	installation	of	site	amenities;	including		 	
	 buildings,	landscaping,	lakes,	and	other	site	improvements.

11.	 Construction	Schedule.		A	final	construction	schedule	shall	be	submitted	for	that	portion	of	the	Planned	Unit		 	
	 Development	for	which	approval	is	being	requested.	

12.	Delinquent	Taxes.		A	certificate	shall	be	furnished	from	the	appropriate	County	official	that	no	delinquent	taxes		 	
	 exist	and	that	all	special	assessments	constituting	a	lien	on	the	whole	or	any	part	of	the	property	of	the	Planned		 	
	 Unit	Development	have	been	paid.

13.	 Covenants.		Final	agreements,	provisions,	or	covenants	which	will	govern	the	use,	maintenance	and	continued		 	
	 protection	of	the	Planned	Unit	Development	shall	be	approved	by	the	City	and	recorded	at	the	same	time		 	 	
	 as	the	Final	Planned	Unit	Development	Plat.

404	E	Nelson	Street	• Edgerton, KS 66021 •	913.893.6231	•	edgertonks.org

Planned Unit  
Development Application -  

Final Plan and Plat

DocuSign Envelope ID: EC4AC09E-FFB8-4625-9780-EC9BF106F25E





















 

 

6. PUD2024-0101: FINAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AND PLAT APPLICATION 
FOR DWYER FARMS LOCATED ON THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BRAUN/207TH 
STREET AND 8TH STREET/EDGERTON ROAD  
 
Mr. Lee Ryherd, SMH Consultants, spoke before the Commission. He stated this application is 
for Phase II of the Dwyer Farms subdivision. Phase I started in 2022 and this will be a 
continuation of the development to the west and will be comprised of 105 lots and one (1) 
common tract for a monument sign off Braun/207th Street. There is one (1) additional 
connection from Braun/207th Street proposed and the streets from Phase I will be continued 
into Phase II. The property to the west will be able to connect to one of the streets as future 
development occurs. He explained that all of the utilities will be installed to all of the proposed 
lots. The stormwater and sanitary sewer infrastructure will be continued from Phase I into 
Phase II. Mr. Ryherd said the watermain is accessible across Braun/207th Street. Gas and 
power will be extended to the site by the appropriate company. Landscaping will be provided 
as was agreed upon in the Conceptual Plan, which was one (1) tree per lot. Landscaping will 
also be provided along Braun/207th Street as shown on the Landscaping Plan that was 
provided. He stated the monument sign will be like the sign in the northeast corner of Phase 
I. He stated that the lighting plan and architectural floor plans will be provided to City staff 
later.  
 
Mr. Zachary Moore, Development Services Director, spoke to the Commission. He stated the 
application request is for a Final Planned Unit Development (PUD) Plan and Plat for the second 
phase of the Dwyer Farms subdivision. The property was annexed in April of 2022 then later 
rezoned to Planned Unit Development (PUD) in August of 2022. The Conceptual Plan was also 
approved by the Governing Body in August of 2022. On June 13, 2023, the Commission 
approved Phase I of the Dwyer Farms subdivision and construction is currently on going. Mr. 
Moore explained Phase II is proposed to have 105 lots with one (1) common tract. The lots 
will range from 6,000 square feet to just over 10,000 square feet with an average lot size of 
just under 7,500 square feet. The tract will be owned and maintained by the Homeowners’ 
Association. 
 
He said City staff reviewed the submittal against Article 6 and 13 of the Unified Development 
Code (UDC). The first requirement of Article 6 is that the proposal must conform with the 
objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. Mr. Moore stated that three (3) goals of recently 
adopted Comprehensive Plan are being met with this proposal: 
 

• Goal 2.4: Coordinate land use planning with transportation and other public 
investments. 

• Goal 4.1: Increase housing diversity in Edgerton. 
• Goal 4.2: Promote best practices for all proposed residential development. 

 
The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) also shows the subject property to be used as low-to-
medium density residential and the proposal is compatible with the existing neighborhood. 
Mr. Moore explained that the net density proposed in Phase II is consistent with the previously 
approved Conceptual Plan. The site is under one (1) ownership as required by the UDC.  
 
Mr. Moore said the applicant has requested a side yard setback of five (5) feet, which was 
approved in the Conceptual Plan and the first phase of the development. This would result in 



 

 

a space between buildings of ten (10) feet. A stipulation of approval has been added for the 
use of fire rated materials to be used for exterior materials. The proposed setbacks meet what 
was approved in the Conceptual Plan. The front yard setback is proposed as 28 feet, rear yard 
setback proposed is 20 feet, and the corner yard setback that is proposed is 15 feet. Off-
street parking will be provided as each previously provided floor plan has either a two (2) or 
three (3) car garage with two (2) additional parking spaces in the driveway. Mr. Moore said 
the proposed PUD will follow the Traffic Impact Study that was previously approved. The 
landscape plan and signage dose meet the UDC requirements, and the applicant will provide 
a sidewalk on one (1) side of all interior streets. 
 
Mr. Moore said City staff recommends approval of PUD Final Plan and Plat for Phase II of 
Dwyer Farms with the following stipulations: 
 
1. Prior to the plat being recorded, the following must occur: 

a. Floorplans for the models of homes to be constructed during this Phase must be 
provided. 

b. The stormwater study must be approved by the City Engineer. 
c. Public infrastructure plans must be approved by the City Engineer. Any necessary 

changes to the plat based on the review of those plans must be made prior to plat 
recording. 

d. The exterior corner in the boundary of a subdivision of land must be monumented 
prior to the recording of the plat. 

2. Fire-rated materials must be used in construction of homes in lieu of the Planning 
Commission and Governing Body permitting a 5-foot side yard setback and minimum 10-
foot separation between buildings. 

 
Chairperson Daley inquired if the City is requiring basements on the homes. Mr. Moore replied 
that there have not been any formal building permit submittals at this time, but basements 
are not required. Chairperson Daley thought a shelter of some sort was required. Mr. Moore 
answered that when the building code was adopted, the Governing Body voted to amend the 
building code to allow a property owner to sign an affidavit opting out of having a storm 
shelter provided in a new house being constructed. Chairperson Daley inquired as to who 
submits the affidavit. Mr. Moore answered the property at the time of building permit submittal 
submits the affidavit. 
 
Chairperson Daley inquired as to what the status of Phase I is currently. Mr. Kyle Jones, Rausch 
Coleman Homes, replied that they are currently working on constructing the streets and then 
other utility infrastructure will be constructed. He stated they have no control as to when the 
utilities will be completed as construction of those are done by each utility company. Once the 
roads are completed, Rausch Coleman then plans on applying for building permits, which they 
hope is to be in August. Chairperson Daley asked if the homes were to be constructed on a 
slab and not a basement. Mr. Jones stated that is correct and will have an option for buyers 
to add a storm shelter to their home, but as the owner at the time of building permit submittal, 
Rausch Coleman will be opting out of the storm shelter requirements. 
 
Commissioner Mueller moved to recommend approval of Application PUD2024-0101 with the 
stipulations outlined by City staff to the Governing Body, seconded by Commissioner Little. 
Application PUD2024-0101 was recommended for approval with the stipulations, 3-0. 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Resolution No. 09-12-24A Approving the 
Mayoral Appointment for Certain Public Officials for the City of 
Edgerton, Kansas 

Recommendation: Approve Resolution No. 09-12-24A Approving the Mayoral 
Appointments for Certain Public Officials for the City of Edgerton, Kansas 

 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Administration 

 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item:  
Chapter 1, Article 3, Section 301 of the Edgerton City Code states that at the first regular 
meeting in May of each year the Mayor, by and with the consent of the Council, shall appoint 
the City Clerk and City Treasurer, and may appoint a City Attorney, Municipal Judge and such 
other officers as may be deemed necessary for the best interest of the City.  
 
The previous Resolution approved in May 2024 named Lee Hendricks as the City Attorney. Mr. 
Hendricks is no longer working in that capacity for the City; thus, the resolution should be 
updated to reflect such. The only change made to this previously approved resolution is the 
naming of Stumbo Hanson, LLP designee as the City Attorney effective immediately.  
 
Draft Resolution 09-12-24A includes the following appointments to serve the City of Edgerton:  
 

Alexandria Clower as City Clerk 
Alex Firth as Assistant City Clerk  
Karen Kindle as City Treasurer 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP, designee for City Attorney 
Nate Sutton as Municipal Judge 
Tom Barnes II as Municipal Prosecutor  
David Hamby as City Engineer  

 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): Article 3, Section 1-301 of the Edgerton Municipal 
Code.  
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 



Enclosed: Draft Resolution No. 09-12-24A 
 
Prepared by: Alex Clower, City Clerk  



RESOLUTION NO. 09-12-24A 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE MAYORAL APPOINTMENTS FOR CERTAIN PUBLIC 
OFFICIALS FOR THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
WHEREAS, City Code requires the Mayor to appoint certain public officials; 

WHEREAS, the appointments named below meet all qualifications set forth by City Code; 

WHEREAS, the Mayor hereby appoints, subject to the approval of the City Council, the 
individuals named below to fill the public appointments for the City of Edgerton, Kansas; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS: 

SECTION ONE:  The City Council hereby approves the following Mayoral appointments to 
serve the City of Edgerton: 
 

Alexandria Clower as City Clerk 
Alex Firth as Assistant City Clerk 
Karen Kindle as City Treasurer 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP Designee as City Attorney 
Nate Sutton as Municipal Judge 
Tom Barnes II as Municipal Prosecutor  
David Hamby as City Engineer  

 
SECTION TWO:  EFFECTIVE DATE 
This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately after its adoption by the 
Governing Body.  
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, 
KANSAS ON THE 12TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2024.    
       
      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
       
 
      By: _____________________________________ 
                    Donald Roberts, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________________ 
TODD LUCKMAN for 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP, City Attorneys 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Concurrence to Bid 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project  

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works  

 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item:  
On May 25, 2023 City Council approved the submission of an application to Johnson County 
for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Project for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding.   
 
In October of 2023 Johnson County notified staff of the proposed award of the partial funding 
request ($91,512).   
 
On April 25, 2024, City Council approved the contract with Tetra Tech for the design of the 
project and scope.  
 
The project includes analysis of the existing collection system, as well as design of the 
improvements. Most of the proposed work will be lining of Vitrified Clay Pipe (VCP) with a 
cured-in-place liner (CIPP). Some areas within the project will include various forms of repair. 
Other forms of work include manhole repairs and point repairs within collection lines. The 
entirety of the project will be prioritized and balanced with the anticipated project budget. 
 
At a future council meeting, staff will provide the results for the bidding process.   
 
For this project, staff anticipates the bidding schedule as follows: (subject to change)  
 

- Advertisement for Bidding: September to October 2024 
- Bid Opening: October 2024 
- Award Bid: October 2024 
- Construction to Begin: mid October 2024 
- Construction Complete: December 2024 
 

 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
Funding Source:     Sewer Fund: $53,500 
   CDBG:  $91,512 



Agenda Item: Approve Concurrence to 2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project  
 
 

 
Budget Allocated:  $145,012 
 
    
Finance Director Approval:              
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:    N/A 
 
 
Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
  
 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
Council Meeting Date:   September 12, 2024 
 
Agenda Item: Resolution Approving Consents to Partial TIF and CID Assignment 
 
Subject:   Edgerton Crossing Woodstone Project 
 

 
 
The Edgerton Crossing project has both tax increment financing and a community improvement district 
sales tax levy in place. The City and the Developer previously entered into a Disposition and Development 
Agreement and a CID Development Agreement to govern collection and disbursement of the TIF and CID 
revenues. 
 
Woodstone has previously sold a portion of the project to Maverik, Inc. Maverik is developing the travel 
center portion of the project. As part of the sale, Woodstone assigned certain of the obligations under the 
TIF and CID Development Agreements to Maverik. This assignment of obligations required the consent 
of the City, which Woodstone obtained in October 2023.  
 
Woodstone desires to sell an additional 2.15 acres of the project site to Maverik, Inc. This additional 
ground will allow Maverik to expand the parking lot for the travel center. As part of the sale, Woodstone 
desires to assign certain of the obligations under the TIF and CID Development Agreements to Maverik. 
This assignment of obligations requires the consent of the City. This form of assignment is identical to the 
assignment executed by the City in 2023.  
 
In March 2024, the City issued industrial revenue bonds for the construction of infrastructure on the site 
currently under contract to be sold to Maverik. Since Maverik is acquiring this additional ground, the City 
needs to amend the legal description in the bond documents to remove the additional ground Maverik is 
purchasing. The bonds were issued solely for the purpose of allowing Woodstone to utilize a sales tax 
exemption certificate on construction materials. 
 
The Resolution authorizes the City to consent to the partial assignment of certain obligations under the 
TIF and CID Development Agreements to Maverik. The Resolution also authorizes the amendment of the 
Base Lease, Lease Agreement and Assignment of Lease Agreements to amend the legal description to 
remove the additional ground Maverik is purchasing. 
 
The Development Agreement with Woodstone contains a project construction schedule. The partial 
assignments do not alter the construction schedule or the consequences of not meeting the construction 
schedule. 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 09-12-24B 

 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF EDGERTON, 
KANSAS TO CONSENT TO A PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF A 
TIF AND A CID DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE AMENDMENT OF BOND DOCUMENTS 
FOR THE EDGERTON CROSSING WOODSTONE PROJECT 
_________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), desires to promote, stimulate and 
develop the general welfare and economic prosperity of the City and its inhabitants and thereby to 
further promote, stimulate and develop the general welfare and economic prosperity of the State of 
Kansas; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Woodstone Properties, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company (the 
“Developer”), is developing two hotels, a conference center, a travel center, restaurants, office and 
retail space (the “Project”) west of Homestead Lane and north of Interstate 35 in the Homestead 
Lane Retail TIF District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer and the City have previously entered into a Disposition and 
Development Agreement dated December 1, 2021 (the “TIF Development Agreement”), to govern 
certain development obligations and the collection and disbursement of tax increment financing 
(“TIF”) revenues with respect to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer and the City have previously entered into a CID Development 
Agreement dated December 1, 2021, as amended by the First Amendment to CID Development 
Agreement dated October 14, 2022 (as amended, the “CID Development Agreement”), to govern 
certain development obligations and the collection and disbursement of a community improvement 
district (“CID”) sales tax levied within the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer has previously sold a portion of the Project site to Maverik, 
Inc., a Utah corporation (“Maverik”) to allow Maverik to construct the travel center portion of the 
Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has previously consented to a partial assignment of certain 
obligations under the TIF Development Agreement and the CID Development Agreement to 
Maverik; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer is selling an additional 2.15 acres of the Project site to 
Maverik to allow Maverik to expand its parking lot; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer has requested that the City consent to another partial 
assignment of certain obligations under the TIF Development Agreement and the CID 
Development Agreement to Maverik; and 



 -2- 

 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to such partial assignment on the terms provided 
for herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has previously issued its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds 
(Woodstone Properties, LLC Project) Series 2023, in an aggregate maximum principal amount not 
to exceed $4,000,000 (the “Bonds”), for the purpose of making the necessary site preparation and 
appurtenances necessary and convenient for the Woodstone project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the Developer leased the 
Woodstone project site to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024 
(the “Base Lease”), between the Developer and the City, and the City subleased the Woodstone 
project site to the Developer pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Lease 
Agreement”), between the City and the Developer; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City assigned its interest in the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement to 
BOKF, N.A., as Bond trustee (the “Trustee”) pursuant to an Assignment of Lease Agreements 
dated March 5, 2024 (the “Assignment of Leases”), from the City to the Trustee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer has requested that the portion of the Project site being sold to 
Maverik (the “Lot 1A Property”) be removed from the Bond issue by amending the Base Lease, 
Lease Agreement and Assignment of Leases; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Approval of Partial Assignment of Certain TIF Obligations. The Governing 
Body hereby approves the form of Partial Assignment and Assumption Agreement in substantially 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “TIF Assignment”), which TIF Assignment assigns 
certain obligations under the TIF Development Agreement from Developer to Maverik. 
 
 Section 2.  Approval of Partial Assignment of Certain CID Obligations. The Governing 
Body hereby approves the form of Partial Assignment and Assumption Agreement in substantially 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “CID Assignment”), which CID Assignment assigns 
certain obligations under the CID Development Agreement from Developer to Maverik. 
 
 Section 3.  Approval of Supplemental Bond Documents. The Governing Body hereby 
approves the form of the First Supplemental Base Lease between the Developer and the City, in 
substantially the form of Exhibit C (the “First Supplemental Base Lease”), which amends the Base 
Lease to remove the Lot 1A Property. The Governing Body hereby approves the form of the First 
Supplemental Lease Agreement between the City and the Developer, in substantially the form of 
Exhibit D (the “First Supplemental Lease”), which amends the Lease Agreement legal description 
to remove the Lot 1A Property. The Governing Body hereby approves the form of the Amendment 
to Assignment of Leases from the City to the Trustee, in substantially the form of Exhibit E (the 
“Assignment Amendment”), which amends the Assignment of Leases legal description to remove 
the Lot 1A Property. 



 -3- 

 
 Section 4.  Execution of Documents. The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized to 
execute the consents to the TIF Assignment and the CID Assignment, and the First Supplemental 
Base Lease, First Supplemental Lease, and Assignment Amendment, each in substantially the 
forms presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body at this meeting (copies of which upon 
execution shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk), with such changes therein as shall be 
approved by the Mayor, the Mayor’s signature thereon being conclusive evidence of his approval 
thereof.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal 
of the City to the foregoing documents. 
 
 Section 5.  Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, employees and agents of 
the City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action, expend such funds and execute 
such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution and to carry out, comply with and perform the duties 
of the City with respect to the TIF Assignment, the CID Assignment, the First Supplemental Base 
Lease, the First Supplemental Lease and the Assignment Amendment. 
 
 Section 6.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force 
immediately after its adoption by the Governing Body. 
 
 ADOPTED this 12th day of September, 2024. 
 
      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
      By: _____________________________________ 
[SEAL]      Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson 
Economic Development Counsel 



EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF TIF ASSIGNMENT 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 
PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT 

(Edgerton Crossing Woodstone Project) 
 

This PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (this "Assignment") 
is entered into as of September __, 2024 ("Effective Date") by and among WOODSTONE 
PROPERTIES, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company ("Assignor") and MAVERIK, INC., a 
Utah corporation ("Assignee"). Assignor and Assignee together are the "Parties".  

RECITALS: 

A. Assignor is a party to that certain Disposition and Development Agreement entered into by the 
City of Edgerton, Kansas ("City") and Assignor and dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Development 
Agreement"), which provided for the redevelopment of approximately forty-two acres of land located in 
Edgerton, Kansas, as legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”).  Capitalized terms 
not defined in this Assignment have the meanings provided in the Development Agreement. 

B. On July 22, 2024, Assignor and Assignee entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, 
as it may be amended or assigned from time to time, whereby Assignor agreed to sell, and Assignee 
agreed to purchase, a portion of the Property, as legally described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the 
“Assigned Property”).   

C. The Development Agreement provides that Assignor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer, the 
Development Agreement, or any of its rights or obligations under the Development Agreement, without 
the prior written consent of the City. Additionally, in the event of an assignment consented to by the City, 
the proposed transferee/assignee shall enter into an agreement, pursuant to which such assignee shall 
assume the obligations of Assignor under the Development Agreement and agree to be subject to all of 
the obligations, conditions and restrictions to which Assignor is subject (or, in the event the transfer is of 
or relates to only a portion of the Property, then such obligations, conditions and restrictions to the extent 
that they relate to such portion).  

D. Pursuant to Section 1.5 of the Development Agreement, Assignor now desires to assign to 
Assignee all its rights, duties, and obligations under the Development Agreement with respect to the 
Assigned Property, except for Assignor’s right to receive TIF Revenues (or any other incentive revenue 
or reimbursement) and Assignor’s obligation to comply with the Project Schedule.   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby 
represent, warrant, and agree as follows: 



1. The above Recitals are hereby incorporated into this Assignment in full and form an 
integral part thereof.  

2. Assignor sells, assigns, transfers, and conveys to Assignee all of Assignor’s rights and 
obligations under the Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property, except for 
Assignor’s right to receive TIF Revenues (or any other incentive revenue or reimbursement) and 
Assignor’s obligation to comply with the Project Schedule. 

3. Assignee accepts the assignment to it of all of Assignor’s rights, title, and interest in and 
to the Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property, except for Assignor’s right to 
receive TIF Revenues (or any other incentive revenue or reimbursement) and Assignor’s obligation to 
comply with the Project Schedule. Assignee hereby assumes all the duties and obligations of Assignor 
under the Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property arising or accruing from and 
after the Effective Date, except the obligation to comply with the Project Schedule. Assignee hereby 
covenants and agrees to fully and faithfully perform, observe, and comply with, and to be subject to, all 
the covenants, agreements, conditions, restrictions, and other terms and provisions stated in the 
Development Agreement that, pursuant to its terms, are to be performed, observed and complied with by 
the Assignor thereunder with respect to the Assigned Property, from and after the Effective Date, pursuant 
to the terms of this Assignment. Assignor and its successors and assigns shall cooperate with Assignee 
concerning the Development Agreement as reasonably requested by Assignor. 

4. Assignor does hereby agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Assignee from and 
against any and all costs, expenses, claims, losses or damages (including attorney’s fees and all costs of 
defense) arising with respect to the Development Agreement prior to the Effective Date. Assignee does 
hereby agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Assignor from and against any and all costs, 
expenses, claims, losses or damages (including attorney’s fees and costs of defense) arising with respect 
to Assignor’s duties and obligations under the Development Agreement that Assignee has assumed with 
respect to the Assigned Property from and after the Effective Date.  

5. Upon approval of this Assignment by the City, Assignor shall be released from all of its 
assigned obligations under the Development Agreement accruing after the Effective Date of this 
Assignment. 

6. In the Development Agreement, Assignor has agreed to comply with the construction 
schedule set forth in the Development Agreement dated September 10, 2021, as amended (the “Master 
Agreement”), between the Assignor and the City. The parties acknowledge that failure to comply with the 
construction schedule set forth in the Master Agreement shall constitute an event of default under the 
Development Agreement with respect to all of the Property, including the Assigned Property. 

7. All rights, benefits and obligations of Assignor and Assignee hereunder shall inure to and 
bind Assignor and Assignee, respectively, and this Assignment shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the Parties’ respective successors and assigns.  

8. This Assignment shall be governed by the laws of the State of Kansas.  

9. This Assignment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall 
constitute an original and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement.  

10. Assignor and Assignee shall each pay its own costs and expense, including attorney’s 
fees, incurred by such party or on its behalf in connection with this Assignment and the transactions 
contemplated herein.  



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 
ASSIGNOR:   
 
WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C., 
a Missouri limited liability company   
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
 John Shannon McMurdo, Manager 
 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________ ) 
 
 
  On this ____ day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared John Shannon McMurdo, to 
me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of Woodstone Properties, 
L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company, and that said instrument was signed and delivered on behalf 
of said limited liability company and acknowledged to me that he executed same as the free act and deed 
of said limited liability company. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
 
_____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



ASSIGNEE: 
 
MAVERIK, INC.,  
a Utah corporation  
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
Name:  _____________________________ 
Title:  _____________________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________ ) 
 
  On this ____ day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared 
_____________________________, to me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that 
s/he is the _____________________________ of Maverik, Inc., a Utah corporation, and that said 
instrument was signed and delivered on behalf of said corporation and acknowledged to me that s/he 
executed same as the free act and deed of said corporation. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
____________________________ 
 
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City consents to this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 

CITY: 
 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS  
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 

Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
STATE OF KANSAS  ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF JOHNSON ) 
 
  On this ____  day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared Donald Roberts and 
Alexandria Clower, to me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that they are the Mayor 
and City Clerk, respectively, of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, and that said instrument was signed and 
delivered on behalf of said City and acknowledged to me that they executed same as the free act and deed 
of said City. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
      
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
 
____________________________ 
 



EXHIBIT A 
 

PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

The East One-Third (1/3) of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) excluding that part in roads and Highways of 
Section 9, Township 15, Range 22, in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas.    
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
 

ASSIGNED PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

 
A portion of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing First Plat to the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas, 
described as follows by James Meis, PS 1533 on January 1st, 2024: 
 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing First Plat; Thence South 02 
degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds East, along the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 174.49 feet to the Point 
of Beginning; Thence North 87 degrees 57 minutes 42 seconds East, a distance of 290.30 feet; Thence 
South 62 degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds East, a distance of 113.58 feet; Thence South 02 degrees 02 
minutes 18 seconds East, parallel with the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 191.21 feet; Thence South 
87 degrees 57 minutes 42 seconds West, a distance of 392.18 feet to the West line of said Lot 1; Thence a 
non-tangent curve to the left, along the West line of said Lot 1, having a radius of 260.00 feet, an arc length 
of 42.83 feet, a chord bearing of North 02 degrees 40 minutes 52 seconds East and a chord length of 42.78 
feet; Thence North 02 degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 
205.36 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Also known as Lot 1A set forth on the Lot Split Survey recorded January 18, 2024 in Book 202401 at 
Page 002800. 



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF CID ASSIGNMENT 



 

 

 

 

 

 
PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT 

(Edgerton Crossing Woodstone Project) 
 

This PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (this "Assignment") 
is entered into as of September ________, 2024 ("Effective Date") by and among WOODSTONE 
PROPERTIES, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company ("Assignor") and MAVERIK, INC., a 
Utah corporation ("Assignee"). Assignor and Assignee together are the "Parties".  

RECITALS: 

A. Assignor is the owner and holder of certain rights and obligations as set forth in that certain CID 
Development Agreement entered into by the City of Edgerton, Kansas ("City") and Assignor and dated 
as of December 1, 2021, as amended by that certain First Amendment to CID Development Agreement 
dated as of October 14, 2022 (collectively, the "CID Development Agreement"), which formalizes the 
development and financing for approximately forty-two acres of land located in Edgerton, Kansas, as 
legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”).  Capitalized terms not defined in this 
Assignment have the meanings provided in the CID Development Agreement. 

B. On July 22, 2024, Assignor and Assignee entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, 
as it may be amended or assigned from time to time, whereby Assignor agreed to sell, and Assignee 
agreed to purchase, a portion of the Property, as legally described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the 
“Assigned Property”).   

C. Section 7.01 of the CID Development Agreement provides that the rights, duties, and 
obligations of the Assignor under the CID Development Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in 
part, to another entity, without the prior approval of the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  

D. Assignor now desires to assign to Assignee all its rights, duties, and obligations under the CID 
Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property, except for Assignor’s right to receive the 
CID Revenues (or any other incentive revenue or reimbursement).   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby 
represent, warrant, and agree as follows: 

1. The above Recitals are hereby incorporated into this Assignment in full and form an 
integral part thereof.  



2. Assignor sells, assigns, transfers, and conveys to Assignee all of Assignor’s rights and 
obligations under the CID Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property, except for 
Assignor’s right to receive CID Revenues (or any other incentive revenue or reimbursement). 

3. Assignee accepts the assignment to it of all of Assignor’s rights, title, and interest in and 
to the CID Development Agreement with respect to the Assigned Property, except for Assignor’s right to 
receive CID Revenues (or any other incentive revenue or reimbursement). Assignee hereby assumes all 
the duties and obligations of Assignor under the CID Development Agreement with respect to the 
Assigned Property arising or accruing from and after the Effective Date. Assignee hereby covenants and 
agrees to fully and faithfully perform, observe, and comply with, and to be subject to, all the covenants, 
agreements, conditions, restrictions, and other terms and provisions stated in the CID Development 
Agreement that, pursuant to its terms, are to be performed, observed and complied with by the Assignor 
thereunder with respect to the Assigned Property, from and after the Effective Date, pursuant to the terms 
of this Assignment. Assignor and its successors and assigns shall cooperate with Assignee concerning the 
CID Development Agreement as reasonably requested by Assignor.  

4. Assignor does hereby agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Assignee from and 
against any and all costs, expenses, claims, losses or damages (including attorney’s fees and all costs of 
defense) arising with respect to the CID Development Agreement prior to the Effective Date. Assignee 
does hereby agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Assignor from and against any and all costs, 
expenses, claims, losses or damages (including attorney’s fees and costs of defense) arising with respect 
to Assignor’s duties and obligations under the CID Development Agreement that Assignee has assumed 
with respect to the Assigned Property from and after the Effective Date. 

5. Upon approval of this Assignment by the City, Assignor shall be released from all of its 
assigned obligations under the CID Development Agreement accruing after the Effective Date of this 
Assignment.  

6. All rights, benefits and obligations of Assignor and Assignee hereunder shall inure to and 
bind Assignor and Assignee, respectively, and this Assignment shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the Parties’ respective successors and assigns.  

7. The parties acknowledge that an event of default under the Development Agreement (as 
defined in the CID Development Agreement) shall continue to be a “Developer Event of Default” under 
the CID Development Agreement with respect to all of the Property, including the Assigned Property.  

8. This Assignment shall be governed by the laws of the State of Kansas.  

9. This Assignment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall 
constitute an original and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement.  

10. Assignor and Assignee shall each pay its own costs and expense, including attorney’s 
fees, incurred by such party or on its behalf in connection with this Assignment and the transactions 
contemplated herein.  

 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 
ASSIGNOR:   
 
WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C., 
a Missouri limited liability company   
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
 John Shannon McMurdo, Manager 
 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________ ) 
 
 
  On this ____ day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared John Shannon McMurdo, to 
me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of Woodstone Properties, 
L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company, and that said instrument was signed and delivered on behalf 
of said limited liability company and acknowledged to me that he executed same as the free act and deed 
of said limited liability company. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
 
_____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



ASSIGNEE: 
 
MAVERIK, INC.,  
a Utah corporation  
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
Name:  _____________________________ 
Title:  _____________________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________ ) 
 
  On this ____ day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared 
_____________________________, to me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that 
s/he is the _____________________________ of Maverik, Inc., a Utah corporation, and that said 
instrument was signed and delivered on behalf of said corporation and acknowledged to me that s/he 
executed same as the free act and deed of said corporation. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
____________________________ 
 
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City consents to this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 

CITY: 
 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS  
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 

Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
STATE OF KANSAS  ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF JOHNSON ) 
 
  On this ___ day of September, 2024, before me personally appeared Donald Roberts and 
Alexandria Clower, to me personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that they are the Mayor 
and City Clerk, respectively, of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, and that said instrument was signed and 
delivered on behalf of said City and acknowledged to me that they executed same as the free act and deed 
of said City. 
 
 In Testimony Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year 
first above written. 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Notary Public 
      
       Printed Name: __________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:  
 
 
____________________________ 



EXHIBIT A 
 

PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 

The East One-Third (1/3) of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) excluding that part in roads and Highways of 
Section 9, Township 15, Range 22, in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas.    
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
 

ASSIGNED PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

 
 
A portion of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing First Plat to the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas, 
described as follows by James Meis, PS 1533 on January 1st, 2024: 
 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing First Plat; Thence South 02 
degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds East, along the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 174.49 feet to the Point 
of Beginning; Thence North 87 degrees 57 minutes 42 seconds East, a distance of 290.30 feet; Thence 
South 62 degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds East, a distance of 113.58 feet; Thence South 02 degrees 02 
minutes 18 seconds East, parallel with the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 191.21 feet; Thence South 
87 degrees 57 minutes 42 seconds West, a distance of 392.18 feet to the West line of said Lot 1; Thence a 
non-tangent curve to the left, along the West line of said Lot 1, having a radius of 260.00 feet, an arc length 
of 42.83 feet, a chord bearing of North 02 degrees 40 minutes 52 seconds East and a chord length of 42.78 
feet; Thence North 02 degrees 02 minutes 18 seconds West, along the West line of said Lot 1, a distance of 
205.36 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Also known as Lot 1A set forth on the Lot Split Survey recorded January 18, 2024 in Book 202401 at 
Page 002800. 
 



 

EXHIBIT C 
 

FORM OF FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL BASE LEASE 



 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________ 
 

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL BASE LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

Dated as of September 1, 2024 
_______________ 

 
Between 

 
WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C., 

As Lessor 
 
 

AND 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, 
As Lessee 

 
 
 
 

Relating to: 
 

$4,000,000 
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount) 

City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds 

(Woodstone Properties, LLC Project) 
Series 2024 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL BASE LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL BASE LEASE AGREEMENT dated as of September 1, 2024 
(the “First Supplemental Base Lease”), between WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C., a limited 
liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri (the “Company”), as lessor, 
and the CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Kansas (the “City”), as lessee, and; 
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has issued its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone Properties, 
LLC Project) Series 2024, in the aggregate maximum principal amount of $4,000,000, pursuant to a Trust 
Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Indenture”), between the City and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and equipping the Project (as defined in the 
Indenture); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City leased the Project from the Company pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement 
dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Original Base Lease”), between the City and the Company, and the City 
leased the Project to the Company pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024, between the 
City and the Company; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the City amend the description of the Project Site 
described in Exhibit A to the Original Base Lease; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.4 of the Original Base Lease, the City and 
the Company may amend the Original Base Lease with the consent of the Trustee; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, covenants 
and agreements herein contained, the City and the Company do hereby represent, covenant and agree as 
follows: 

AGREEMENT: 

Section 1.1.   Definitions.  Capitalized terms used in this First Supplemental Base Lease but 
not defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the Original Base Lease. 

Section 1.2.  Amendment to Project Site.  Exhibit A to the Original Base Lease is amended by 
deleting the legal description on Exhibit A and replacing it with the legal description set forth on Exhibit A 
to this First Supplemental Base Lease. 

Section 1.3. Governing Law.  This First Supplemental Base Lease shall be governed by the 
laws of the State of Kansas. 

Section 1.4. Execution in Counterparts.  This First Supplemental Base Lease may be 
executed simultaneously in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all 
of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 



 

 S-1 
First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement 
Woodstone Properties, L.L.C. Project, Series 2024 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Supplemental Base Lease to 
be executed in their respective corporate names, all as of the date first above written. 
 
       CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
       By:       
        Donald Roberts 
        Mayor 
 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
 Alexandria Clower 
 City Clerk  
 
 
 



 

 S-2 
First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement 
Woodstone Properties, L.L.C. Project, Series 2024 

       WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C.,  
  a Missouri limited liability company 

 
 

By:  _____________________________ 
          J. Shannon McMurdo 
  Manager 

 



 

CONSENT OF TRUSTEE 
 
 

 BOKF, N.A., as trustee, hereby consents to the execution and delivery of this First Supplemental 
Base Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2024, between Woodstone Properties, L.L.C., a Missouri 
limited liability company, and the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), relating to the City’s Taxable 
Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone Properties, L.L.C. Project), Series 2024. 
 
       BOKF, N.A. 
 
 
 
       By: _____________________________ 

 



 

  
EXHIBIT A 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
 
 

Lot 1 and Tracts A, B, and C, Block 1, and Tract A, Block 3, EDGERTON CROSSING, FIRST 
PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 



 

EXHIBIT D 
 

FORM OF FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________ 
 

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

Dated as of September 1, 2024 
_______________ 

 
Between 

 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, 

As Lessor 
 
 

AND 
 
 

WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, L.L.C., 
As Lessee 

 
 
 
 

Relating to: 
 

$4,000,000 
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount) 

City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds 

(Woodstone Properties, LLC Project) 
Series 2024 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT dated as of September 1, 2024 (the 
“First Supplemental Lease”), between the CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, a municipal corporation 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Kansas (the “City”), as lessor, and WOODSTONE 
PROPERTIES, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company (the “Company”), as lessee; 
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has issued its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone Properties, 
LLC Project) Series 2024, in the aggregate maximum principal amount of $4,000,000, pursuant to a Trust 
Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Indenture”), between the City and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and equipping the Project (as defined in the 
Indenture); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City leased the Project from the Company pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement 
dated as of March 1, 2024, between the City and the Company, and the City leased the Project to the 
Company pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Original Lease”), between the 
City and the Company; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the City amend the description of the Project Site 
described in Exhibit D to the Original Lease; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Section 1202 of the Indenture and Section 14.1 of the 
Original Lease, the City and the Company may amend the Original Lease with the consent of the 
Bondholders and the Trustee; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, covenants 
and agreements herein contained, the City and the Company do hereby represent, covenant and agree as 
follows: 

AGREEMENT: 

Section 1.1.   Definitions.  Capitalized terms used in this First Supplemental Lease but not 
defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the Original Lease. 

Section 1.2.  Amendment to Project Site.  Exhibit D to the Original Lease is amended by 
deleting the legal description on Exhibit D and replacing it with the legal description set forth on Exhibit A 
to this First Supplemental Lease. 

Section 1.3. Governing Law.  This First Supplemental Lease shall be governed by the laws 
of the State of Kansas. 

Section 1.4. Execution in Counterparts.  This First Supplemental Lease may be executed 
simultaneously in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 



 

 S-1 
First Supplemental Lease Agreement 
Woodstone Properties, L.L.C. Project, Series 2024 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Supplemental Lease to be 
executed in their respective corporate names, all as of the date first above written. 
 
       CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
       By:       
        Donald Roberts 
        Mayor 
 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
 Alexandria Clower 
 City Clerk  
 
 
 



 

 S-2 
First Supplemental Lease Agreement 
Woodstone Properties, L.L.C. Project, Series 2024 

       WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, LLC,  
  a Missouri limited liability company 

 
 
 

By:  _____________________________ 
  Shannon McMurdo 
  Manager 

 



 

CONSENT OF TRUSTEE 
 
 

 BOKF, N.A., as trustee, hereby consents to the execution and delivery of this First Supplemental 
Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2024, between the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), and 
Woodstone Properties, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company, relating to the City’s Taxable 
Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone Properties, LLC Project), Series 2024. 
 
       BOKF, N.A. 
 
 
 
       By: _____________________________ 

  



 

CONSENT OF BONDHOLDER 
 
 

 Woodstone Properties, L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company, as the owner of all of the 
outstanding City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone 
Properties, LLC Project), Series 2024, consents to the execution and delivery of this First Supplemental 
Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2024, between the City and Woodstone Properties, L.L.C., a 
Missouri limited liability company. 
 
       WOODSTONE PROPERTIES, LLC,  

  a Missouri limited liability company 
 
 
 

By:  _____________________________ 
  Shannon McMurdo 
  Manager 

 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
 

Lot 1 and Tracts A, B, and C, Block 1, and Tract A, Block 3, EDGERTON CROSSING, FIRST 
PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 

 
 



 

EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AMENDMENT 
 



 

AMENDMENT TO 
ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE AGREEMENTS 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, a municipal corporation organized under 
the laws of the State of Kansas (the “City”), has delivered an Assignment of Lease Agreements dated March 
5, 2024 (the “Assignment of Leases”) to BOKF, N.A., as bond trustee (the “Trustee”), pursuant to a Trust 
Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024, which Trust Indenture authorized the issuance of the City’s Taxable 
Industrial Revenue Bonds (Woodstone Properties, LLC Project), Series 2024 (the “Bonds”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the City and the Woodstone Properties, 
L.L.C., a Missouri limited liability company (“Woodstone”), entered into a Base Lease Agreement dated 
as of March 1, 2024 (the “Base Lease”) and a Lease Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Lease 
Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and Woodstone have now entered into a First Supplemental Base Lease 
dated as of September 1, 2024, and a First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2024, 
to amend the legal description in the Base Lease and Lease Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the legal description in the Assignment of Leases to 
confirm with the legal description in the First Supplemental Base Lease and First Supplemental Lease. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree that the legal description in Exhibit A to the Assignment 
of Leases is hereby amended to the attached Exhibit A. 
. 
 Dated: September _____, 2024. 
 
       CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
[SEAL] 

      By:       
        Donald Roberts 
        Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower 
City Clerk 

BOKF, N.A., 
  as Trustee 
 
 
 

     By:      
  Kenneth J. Dotson 
  Senior Vice President 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 

 
PROPERTY SUBJECT TO LEASE AGREEMENT 

 
 
 

Lot 1 and Tracts A, B, and C, Block 1, and Tract A, Block 3, EDGERTON CROSSING, FIRST 
PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 

 
 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Ordinance No. 2167 Adopting The Planning 
Commission’s Recommendation To Approve The Renewal Of A 
Conditional Use Permit (CU2024-0100) Allowing Billboard For Ad Trend, 
LLC On The Property Located At 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
The City of Edgerton has received Application CU2024-0100 requesting a Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP) for a billboard for Ad Trend, LLC, located at the northern portion of the property at 36450 
Frontage Road. New billboards are not permitted within the City of Edgerton, however, this 
billboard has existed since 2010, when it received its first Conditional Use Permit (CUP) from 
the City. The permit has been renewed since then, and the current CUP is set to expire in 
October of this year.  
 
In order to recommend approval or disapproval of a proposed CUP, the Governing Body shall 
determine whether the proposed use is found to be generally compatible with surrounding 
development and is in the best interest of the City. In making such determination, Article 7, 
Section 7.1(C) of the UDC states that the Governing Body may consider all factors they deem 
relevant. City Staff has reviewed Application CU2024-0100 with respect to all these requirements 
and staff’s analysis can be found in the staff report from the August 13 Planning Commission 
meeting, which is included in this packet. The staff report presented to the Planning Commission 
outlining the findings of staff’s review is included in the packet. 
 
On August 13, 2024 the City of Edgerton Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding 
Application CU2024-0100, and the Planning Commission recommended approval of the 
Conditional Use Permit, as stipulated in the staff report, with a 4-0 vote. No members of the 
public spoke at the public hearing.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): UDC, Article 7 

 
 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 



Recommendation: Approve Ordinance No. 2167 Adopting The Planning 
Commission’s Recommendation To Approve A Conditional Use Permit 
(CU2024-0100) Allowing The Renewal of a Billboard Located At 36450 
Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas 

Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: 

• Draft Ordinance No. 2167 
• CU2024-0100 Staff Report prepared for the August 13, 2024 Planning Commission 

Meeting 
• Excerpt from draft Minutes – August 13, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting 

 
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
August 13, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 6 

  
AD TREND, LLC NORTHERN BILLBOARD 

 

Application CU2024-0100  
36450 Frontage Road 

 

QUICK FACTS   

 
 

 
PROJECT 
SUMMARY AND 
REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant is 
requesting 
approval of a 
Conditional Use 
Permit for a 
billboard located at 
36450 Frontage 
Road. 
 
Owner and 
Applicant 
Mico, Inc., Property 
Owner; Ad Trend, 
Billboard Owner 
and Applicant 
 
Existing Zoning 
and Land Use 
The property is 
currently zoned C-
2 (Heavy Service 
Commercial) 
District. A 
residential building 
and three (3) 
commercial 
buildings are on 
the property. 
 
Parcel Size 
16.09± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 

  



CU2024-0100 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 2 of 6 

BACKGROUND 

1. Proposal 
The applicant is requesting a renewal of Conditional Use Permit CU2019-02 on the subject 
property for the northern billboard on the subject property. The southern billboard will require 
a separate Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and will also be presented to the Planning 
Commission at the August 13, 2024 meeting. 

 
2. Subject Site History  

The 16.09± acre subject property was annexed on February 28, 2008 (Ordinance 836) and 
was rezoned to the C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) District on April 24, 2008 (Ordinance 
838). The Governing Body approved CUP-02-05-10 on March 25, 2010 allowing for the 
construction of the billboard and that CUP expired in 2015. In 2019, City staff notified the 
property owner of the expired CUP, which was then renewed on October 10, 2019. With the 
CUP expiring on October 10, 2024, the applicant wishes to renew the CUP. 
 
On August 8, 2019, the Governing Body adopted amendments to the Unified Development 
Code (UDC) prohibiting billboards in the City of Edgerton. The application in 2019 was 
submitted prior to those amendments being adopted. Per Section 7.1.B of the UDC the 
Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures and standards of the UDC, may 
recommend the Governing Body authorize buildings, structures, and uses as conditional uses 
in the specific instances and particular districts set forth provided that the location is 
appropriate, consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, that the public health, safety, morals, 
and general welfare will not be adversely affected, and that necessary safeguards will be 
provided surrounding property, persons, and neighborhood values, and further provided that 
the additional standards of Article 7 specified as a condition of approval. 
 

  
 

Figure 1 – Zoning Map. Subject Property Outlined in Red. General location of 
billboard indicated by the Yellow star 



CU2024-0100 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 3 of 6 

 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REVIEW 

Figure 2 below shows the future land use designation for the area, with the subject property 
outlined in black: 
 

 
Figure 2 

 
City staff reviewed the Conditional Use Permit under the requirements outlined in Article 7 – 
Conditional Uses of the UDC. 
 
The purpose of this article is to provide for certain uses, which because of their unique 
characteristics cannot be distinctly listed as a permitted use in a particular zoning district. The 
Planning Commission may recommend approval of Conditional Uses to the Governing Body after 
consideration in each case of the impact of such uses upon neighboring uses, the surrounding 
area, and the public need for the particular use at the particular location. Limitations and 
standards are herein established to ensure the use’s consistency with the character, uses and 
activities in the zoning district. Before any Conditional Use may be approved, the Governing Body 
shall review the record of the public hearing held by the Planning Commission. 
 
The Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures and standards of the UDC, may 
recommend the Governing Body authorize buildings, structures, and uses as Conditional Uses in 
specific instances and in particular districts set forth provided that: 



CU2024-0100 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 4 of 6 

 
a. the location is appropriate and consistent with the Comprehensive Plan;  
b. that the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare will not be adversely affected; 
c. the necessary safeguards will be provided to surrounding property, persons, and 

neighborhood values; and  
d. further provide that additional standards of this Article be specified as a condition of 

approval.  
 
Section 7.1 Issuance of Conditional Uses 
Criteria. In order to recommend approval or disapproval of a proposed conditional use permit, 
both the Planning Commission and the Governing Body shall determine whether the proposed 
use is found to be generally compatible with surrounding development and is in the best interest 
of the City. In making such determination, the Planning Commission and Governing Body may 
consider all factors they deem relevant to the questions of compatibility and the best interest of 
the City, including the following: 
 
1. The extent to which there is a need in the community for the proposed use.  

a. This is one (1) of two (2) billboards that are located within the City of Edgerton, and under 
the current UDC, no other billboards may be constructed. 
  

2. The character of the neighborhood, including but not limited to: zoning, existing and approved 
land use, platting, density (residential), natural features, and open space.  
a. The subject property abuts right-of-way for Interstate 35 (I-35), allowing for traffic to 

view the sign. The zoning of the parcel is C-2 with one (1) family residential building that 
is currently occupied. One (1) other building on the site is currently occupied as a business, 
while the other two (2) buildings are unoccupied. The area surrounding the subject 
property is undeveloped. 
 

3. The nature and intensity of the proposed use and its compatibility with the zoning and uses 
of nearby properties. Such determination should include the location, nature, and height of 
structures, walls, fences, and other improvements connected with the proposed use, their 
relation to adjacent property and uses, and the need for buffering and screening.  
a. To the immediate south of the subject property is I-35, which is the most appropriate 

location for this use. The sign is approximately 672 square feet, and the only other nearby 
structures are on the subject property itself. There are no other improvements near the 
billboard. 
 

4. Suitability of the uses of the property without the proposed conditional use permit. 
a. There are many uses listed in the UDC that are available for the property owner to pick 

from that do not require a CUP. The billboard is no longer a permitted use due to 
amendments made to the UDC, making this request unique. 
 

5. Length of time the subject property has remained vacant without the proposed conditional 
use permit.   
a. Per Johnson County AIMS, there has been a structure on the parcel since at least 1993. 

The residential building is occupied and there is a business in one (1) of the other buildings 
on the subject property. The billboard has been located on the property since 2010 and 
City staff has not received any complaints regarding the billboard.  
 
 



CU2024-0100 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 5 of 6 

6. The extent to which the proposed use may detrimentally affect nearby property.  
a. The nearby properties are not detrimentally affected by the sign. City staff has not 

received any complaints regarding the sign in the 14 years it has been on the property. 
 

7. The adequacy of ingress and egress to and within the site of the proposed use, traffic flow 
and control, the adequacy of off-street parking and loading areas, the adequacy of required 
yard and open space requirements and sign provisions.  
a. Traffic flow and control is not applicable to this request as it is specifically for the sign. 

While the currently adopted UDC does not have provisions for billboards, the existing 
billboard complies with previously adopted development standards.  
 

8. The availability and adequacy of required utilities and services to serve the proposed use. 
These utilities and services include, but are not limited to, sanitary and storm sewers, water, 
electrical and gas service, police and fire protection, schools, parks and recreation facilities 
and services, and other similar public facilities and services.  
a. The only utility that would be needed for the billboard is electricity, which is already onsite 

via Evergy.  
 

9. The extent to which the proposed use would adversely affect the capacity or safety of that 
portion of the road network influenced by the proposed use, or present parking problems in 
the vicinity of the property.  
a. The billboard would not affect the capacity of safety of the road network or present any 

parking problems.  
 

10. The environmental impacts that the proposed use would create (if any) including, but not 
limited to, excessive storm water runoff, water pollution, air pollution, noise pollution, 
excessive nighttime lighting or other environmental harm.  
a. The only possible impact of the billboard would be nighttime lighting, however City staff 

has not received any complaints regarding the lighting of the sign. 
 

11. The economic impact of the proposed use on the community.  
a. The sign could be utilized to attract businesses and travelers into Edgerton, leading to a 

potential increase in property tax and/or sales tax. 
 

12. The relative gain (if any) to the public health, safety, and welfare from a denial of the 
application for conditional use permit as compared to the hardship imposed upon the 
conditional use applicant from such denial.  
a. There would be little to no gain to the public health, safety, and welfare of the City of 

Edgerton should this request be denied. If the request is denied, the applicant would be 
required to remove the billboards from the property, which would be a significant 
hardship. Due to that potential hardship, City staff recommends the approval of the CUP 
for five (5) years. 
 

13. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, Capital Improvement Plan, ordinances, policies, 
and applicable City Code of the City of Edgerton, and the general safety, health, comfort and 
general welfare of the community.  
a. The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) within the Comprehensive Plan designates the subject 

property as Gateway Commercial, and the billboard is consistent with the FLUM. While the 
UDC does not allow new billboards currently, the Planning Commission does have the 
authority to recommend approval of a CUP for a structure per Section 7.1.B.  



CU2024-0100 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 6 of 6 

 
14. In addition to the above criteria, the recommendation of professional staff is also required per 

Ordinance 798 (2005). Staff recommendation is addressed in the Recommendations Section 
of this Staff Report. 

 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

1 Photos of Current Billboard  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends approval of Rezoning Application CU2024-0100, Ad Trend, LLC Northern 
Billboard with the following stipulations: 
 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the repairs must 

be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. Failure to maintain the 
sign will result in revocation of the CUP.  
 

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of Edgerton 
Governing Body. 
 

Note: For Application CU2024-0100 the Planning Commission is the recommending 
body for the application to the Governing Body. The Application will be presented to 
the Governing Body on September 12, 2024.  





 

 

6. CU2024-0100: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION FOR THE NORTHERN 
BILLBOARD SIGN LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD 
 
Mr. Mike Dahir, Ad Trend, LLC, spoke before the Commission. He stated this application is for 
the northern sign on the property and the southern sign will be addressed in the next 
application for the sign to the south. He explained this is a request to renew the conditional 
use permit (CUP) that will expire later this year. The current zoning of the parcel is C-2. To 
the north, the property is zoned B-P. There is also City R-1, R-2, and R-3 to the north. Another 
C-2 zoned parcel is to the northeast. To the west, the parcels are zoned County Rural, and 
the property immediately to the south is the interstate, Interstate 35 (I-35). He said the signs 
have adhered to the Conditional Use Permit (CUP), Unified Development Code (UDC), and 
other requirements. They are agreeable to the staff stipulations listed in the staff report. There 
have not been any complaints of the sign in the 14 years it has been present.  
 
Chairperson Daley opened the public hearing. There were no comments made by the public. 
Commissioner Little moved to close the public hearing. Commissioner Draskovich seconded 
the motion. The public hearing was closed, with a 3-0 vote.  
 
Mr. Chris Clinton, Planning and Zoning Coordinator, addressed the Commission. He stated the 
request is for a renewal of CUP CU2019-02, which is for the northern billboard located at 
36450 Frontage Road. The southern billboard will require a separate public hearing and action 
and will be heard later during the August 13, 2024 meeting. The 16.09± acre site was annexed 
into the City of Edgerton on February 28, 2008 and later rezoned to C-2, Heavy Service 
Commercial, on April 24, 2008. The first CUP was approved on March 25, 2010, which allowed 
for the construction of the billboards. The latest renewal of the CUP was on October 10, 2019 
for five (5) years, so the CUP is set to expire in October of this year. 
 
He explained that in August of 2019, the UDC was amended to prohibit construction of any 
new billboards in the City of Edgerton. Prior to those amendments being adopted, discussions 
were had with the property owners regarding renewals of the CUPs for the billboards. Mr. 
Clinton said the UDC does provide the Planning Commission authority to recommend a CUP 
for structures as long as they meet the requirements for a CUP provided in Article 7. City staff 
reviewed the request against the standards outlined in Article 7 of the UDC that the Planning 
Commission may recommend a CUP to the Governing Body. Those standards are the location 
is appropriate and consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; that the public health, safety, 
morals, and general welfare will not be adversely affected; the necessary safeguards will be 
provided to surrounding property, persons, and neighborhood values; and any additional 
standards outlined in Article 7 specified as a condition of approval. 
 
Mr. Clinton stated that Section 7.1 of the UDC lists the criteria that the Planning Commission 
must take into account when making a determination as to whether or not the CUP should be 
recommended for approval. He said there are 14 different criteria, but only a select few will 
be highlighted along with staff’s determination of the criteria. The remaining criteria are 
outlined in the Staff Report.  
 
He said the first criteria is the character of the neighborhood, such as the zoning, existing 
land use, residential density, and open space. The subject property abuts right-of-way for 
Interstate 35 (I-35) and is zoned C-2. There is one (1) single family residential building that 



 

 

is currently occupied on the subject parcel, a business occupies another building, and the 
remaining two buildings on the subject parcel are unoccupied. 
 
He stated the nature and intensity of the proposed used and its compatibility with the zoning 
and uses of nearby properties is the next criteria. I-35 is to the immediate south, which would 
make the location of the signs ideal. The billboard is approximately 672 square feet and is 
one of the few structures on the subject parcel. There are no other developments around the 
subject parcel. 
 
Mr. Clinton explained the third criteria is the extent to which the proposed use may 
detrimentally affect the nearby property. The billboard has been on the subject property for 
14 years, and City staff has not received any complaints so there are no detrimental affects 
to nearby properties. 
 
The next highlighted criteria asks if there would be any gain to the public health, safety, and 
welfare from a denial of the application versus the hardship imposed by the denial of the 
application imposed on the application. Mr. Clinton stated that there would not be a gain to 
the public health, safety, or welfare to the denial of the application. He explained the hardship 
imposed on the applicant would be significant as the billboard would then have to be removed. 
 
He said the next criteria is looking into the consistency with the Comprehensive Plan. The 
Future Land Use Map in the recently adopted Comprehensive Plan has the subject property 
designated as Gateway Commercial This billboard is consistent with the Future Land Use Map 
designation. 
 
Mr. Clinton stated the final criterion is staff’s recommendation. City staff recommends approval 
of CUP Application CU2024-0100 with the following stipulations: 
 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the repairs 

must be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. Failure to maintain 
the sign will result in revocation of the CUP. 
 

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of Edgerton 
Governing Body. 

 
Commissioner Little inquired as to how the messages on the sign are decided on. Chairperson 
Daley stated that the City cannot dictate what is put on the sign. Commissioner Little 
acknowledged that fact, but he was curious if the company knew what is being put on the 
billboard. Mr. Dahir replied that there are stipulations in the lease agreement. The company 
does have the final say as to what sign is displayed on the billboard.  
 
Commissioner Mathos moved to recommend approval of Application CU2024-0100 with the 
stipulations outlined by City staff to the Governing Body, seconded by Commissioner 
Draskovich. Application CU2024-0100 was recommended for approval as stipulated, with a 4-
0 vote. 
 
 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2167 
 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON 
PLANNING COMMISSION TO APPROVE A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (CU2024-
0100) ALLOWING A BILLBOARD IN THE C-2 (HEAVY SERVICE COMMERCIAL) 
DISTRICT LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD, EDGERTON, KANSAS  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas received Application CU2024-0100 for a 
Conditional Use Permit from Ad Trend, LLC (the “Applicant”) on June 29, 2024 for the 
property located at 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas (the “Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, both at the time of application and at the time of the signing of this 

Ordinance, the property is owned by Mico, Inc. (the “Owner”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Owner has signed and submitted an affidavit granting the Applicant 

the permission to apply for a Conditional Use Permit on the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant is requesting permission to operate, pursuant to the terms 

of a Conditional Use Permit, a billboard; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Edgerton Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 13, 

2024 on the requested Conditional Use Permit in accordance with the requirements as set 
forth in the Edgerton Zoning Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Edgerton Planning Commission voted to approve the Conditional Use 

Permit request for a period of five (5) years, conditioned on the following being adhered to 
by the Applicant and any future owner or tenant of the Property within that five-year period. 

 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the 

repairs must be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. 
Failure to maintain the sign will result in revocation of the CUP.  

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of 
Edgerton Governing Body. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Governing Body, after reviewing the Conditional Use Permit and 
considering the criteria set forth in Article 7 of the City Zoning regulations and the 
recommendations of the Planning Commission, finds the Conditional Use Permit should be 
approved upon the terms described above.  
 

WHEREAS, all required newspaper and mailing notifications were performed. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS: 
 

Section 1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit for a Billboard is hereby approved 
for the property located at 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas.  

 
Section 2. The Conditional Use Permit approved by this Ordinance is expressly 



 

conditioned on the Applicant/Owner’s strict compliance with the two (2) conditions set forth 
above, which were recommended by the Edgerton City staff, Planning Commission, and 
approved by the Edgerton City Council.  

 
Section 3. The validity of this Conditional Use Permit is conditioned upon the strict 

compliance by the Applicant/Owner with the provisions contained herein as well as strict 
compliance with the City of Edgerton Zoning Regulations. Should the Applicant/Owner fail to 
comply with any term or provision thereof and should such failure continue following written 
notice from the City to the Applicant/Owner specifying the breach and actions to be taken 
to cure the same, then, at the direction of the City Administrator, the Applicant/Owner will 
be notified that this Conditional Use Permit is revoked, and all uses permitted herein on the 
Property must immediately cease. Reinstatement following default may only occur through 
action of the Governing Body. Wholly separate and apart from the specific conditions of the 
City’s Zoning Regulations are the City’s interest and duties to protect the public health, safety 
and welfare. The Applicant/Owner agrees that this Ordinance shall not operate or be 
construed to impede or impair the lawful function of City government operation in this area. 
 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced from and after its publication 
once in the official City newspaper. All Zoning Regulations of the City of Edgerton, Kansas 
affecting the use of the Property heretofore described which are inconsistent with this 
Ordinance are hereby made inapplicable to said Property until the Conditional Use Permit 
expires, is vacated, or is declared null and void.  
 
ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS ON THE 12th DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2024. 
 
 
      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
      By: __________________________ 
       Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________ 
TODD LUCKMAN for 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP, City Attorneys 
 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Ordinance No. 2168 Adopting The Planning 
Commission’s Recommendation To Approve The Renewal Of A Conditional 
Use Permit (CU2024-0101) Allowing Billboard For Ad Trend, LLC On The 
Property Located At 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
The City of Edgerton has received Application CU2024-0101 requesting a Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP) for a billboard for Ad Trend, LLC, located at on the southern portion of the property at 
36450 Frontage Road. New billboards are not permitted within the City of Edgerton, however, 
this billboard has existed since 2010, when it received its first Conditional Use Permit (CUP) from 
the City. The permit has been renewed since then, and the current CUP is set to expire in 
October of this year.  
 
In order to recommend approval or disapproval of a proposed CUP, the Governing Body shall 
determine whether the proposed use is found to be generally compatible with surrounding 
development and is in the best interest of the City. In making such determination, Article 7, 
Section 7.1(C) of the UDC states that the Governing Body may consider all factors they deem 
relevant. City Staff has reviewed Application CU2024-0101 with respect to all these requirements 
and staff’s analysis can be found in the staff report from the August 13 Planning Commission 
meeting, which is included in this packet. The staff report presented to the Planning Commission 
outlining the findings of staff’s review is included in the packet. 
 
On August 13, 2024 the City of Edgerton Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding 
Application CU2024-0101, and the Planning Commission recommended approval of the 
Conditional Use Permit, as stipulated in the staff report, with a 4-0 vote. No members of the 
public spoke at the public hearing.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): UDC, Article 7 

 
 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 



Recommendation: Approve Ordinance No. 2168 Adopting The Planning 
Commission’s Recommendation To Approve A Conditional Use Permit 
(CU2024-0101) Allowing The Renewal of a Billboard Located At 36450 
Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas 

Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: 

• Draft Ordinance No. 2168 
• CU2024-0101 Staff Report prepared for the August 13, 2024 Planning Commission 

Meeting 
• Excerpt from draft Minutes – August 13, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting. 

 
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
August 13, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 6 

  
AD TREND, LLC SOUTHERN BILLBOARD 

 

Application CU2024-0101  
36450 Frontage Road 

 

QUICK FACTS   

 
 

 
PROJECT 
SUMMARY AND 
REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant is 
requesting 
approval of a 
Conditional Use 
Permit for a 
billboard located at 
36450 Frontage 
Road. 
 
Owner and 
Applicant 
Mico, Inc., Property 
Owner; Ad Trend, 
Billboard Owner 
and Applicant 
 
Existing Zoning 
and Land Use 
The property is 
currently zoned C-
2 (Heavy Service 
Commercial) 
District. A 
residential building 
and three (3) 
commercial 
buildings are on 
the property. 
 
Parcel Size 
16.09± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 

  



CU2024-0101 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 2 of 6 

BACKGROUND 

1. Proposal 
The applicant is requesting a renewal of Conditional Use Permit CU2019-02 on the subject 
property for the southern billboard on the subject property. The northern billboard will require 
a separate Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and will also be presented to the Planning 
Commission at the August 13, 2024 meeting. 

 
2. Subject Site History  

The 16.09± acre subject property was annexed on February 28, 2008 (Ordinance 836) and 
was rezoned to the C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) District on April 24, 2008 (Ordinance 
838). The Governing Body approved CUP-02-05-10 on March 25, 2010 allowing for the 
construction of the billboard and that CUP expired in 2015. In 2019, City staff notified the 
property owner of the expired CUP, which was then renewed on October 10, 2019. With the 
CUP expiring on October 10, 2024, the applicant wishes to renew the CUP. 
 
On August 8, 2019, the Governing Body adopted amendments to the Unified Development 
Code (UDC) prohibiting billboards in the City of Edgerton. The application in 2019 was 
submitted prior to those amendments being adopted. Per Section 7.1.B of the UDC the 
Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures and standards of the UDC, may 
recommend the Governing Body authorize buildings, structures, and uses as conditional uses 
in the specific instances and particular districts set forth provided that the location is 
appropriate, consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, that the public health, safety, morals, 
and general welfare will not be adversely affected, and that necessary safeguards will be 
provided surrounding property, persons, and neighborhood values, and further provided that 
the additional standards of Article 7 specified as a condition of approval. 
 

 
  

Figure 1 – Zoning Map. Subject Property Outlined in Red. General location of 
billboard indicated by the Yellow star 

City R-1 

City R-2 
and R-3 

City B-P 

City B-P City C-2 

City C-2 
County RUR 

County RUR 

County RUR 



CU2024-0101 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 3 of 6 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REVIEW 

Figure 2 below shows the future land use designation for the area, with the subject property 
outlined in black: 
 

 
Figure 2 

 
City staff reviewed the Conditional Use Permit under the requirements outlined in Article 7 – 
Conditional Uses of the UDC. 
 
The purpose of this article is to provide for certain uses, which because of their unique 
characteristics cannot be distinctly listed as a permitted use in a particular zoning district. The 
Planning Commission may recommend approval of Conditional Uses to the Governing Body after 
consideration in each case of the impact of such uses upon neighboring uses, the surrounding 
area, and the public need for the particular use at the particular location. Limitations and 
standards are herein established to ensure the use’s consistency with the character, uses and 
activities in the zoning district. Before any Conditional Use may be approved, the Governing Body 
shall review the record of the public hearing held by the Planning Commission. 
 
The Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures and standards of the UDC, may 
recommend the Governing Body authorize buildings, structures, and uses as Conditional Uses in 
specific instances and in particular districts set forth provided that: 
 



CU2024-0101 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 4 of 6 

a. the location is appropriate and consistent with the Comprehensive Plan;  
b. that the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare will not be adversely affected; 
c. the necessary safeguards will be provided to surrounding property, persons, and 

neighborhood values; and  
d. further provide that additional standards of this Article be specified as a condition of 

approval.  
 
Section 7.1 Issuance of Conditional Uses 
Criteria. In order to recommend approval or disapproval of a proposed conditional use permit, 
both the Planning Commission and the Governing Body shall determine whether the proposed 
use is found to be generally compatible with surrounding development and is in the best interest 
of the City. In making such determination, the Planning Commission and Governing Body may 
consider all factors they deem relevant to the questions of compatibility and the best interest of 
the City, including the following: 
 
1. The extent to which there is a need in the community for the proposed use.  

a. This is one (1) of two (2) billboards that are located within the City of Edgerton, and under 
the current UDC, no other billboards may be constructed. 
  

2. The character of the neighborhood, including but not limited to: zoning, existing and approved 
land use, platting, density (residential), natural features, and open space.  
a. The subject property abuts right-of-way for Interstate 35 (I-35), allowing for traffic to 

view the sign. The zoning of the parcel is C-2 with one (1) family residential building that 
is currently occupied. One (1) other building on the site is currently occupied as a business, 
while the other two (2) buildings are unoccupied. The area surrounding the subject 
property is undeveloped. 
 

3. The nature and intensity of the proposed use and its compatibility with the zoning and uses 
of nearby properties. Such determination should include the location, nature, and height of 
structures, walls, fences, and other improvements connected with the proposed use, their 
relation to adjacent property and uses, and the need for buffering and screening.  
a. To the immediate south of the subject property is I-35, which is the most appropriate 

location for this use. The sign is approximately 672 square feet, and the only other nearby 
structures are on the subject property itself. There are no other improvements near the 
billboard. 
 

4. Suitability of the uses of the property without the proposed conditional use permit. 
a. There are many uses listed in the UDC that are available for the property owner to pick 

from that do not require a CUP. The billboard is no longer a permitted use due to 
amendments made to the UDC, making this request unique. 
 

5. Length of time the subject property has remained vacant without the proposed conditional 
use permit.   
a. Per Johnson County AIMS, there has been a structure on the parcel since at least 1993. 

The residential building is occupied and there is a business in one (1) of the other buildings 
on the subject property. The billboard has been located on the property since 2010 and 
City staff has not received any complaints regarding the billboard.  

 
 

 



CU2024-0101 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 5 of 6 

6. The extent to which the proposed use may detrimentally affect nearby property.  
a. The nearby properties are not detrimentally affected by the sign. City staff has not 

received any complaints regarding the sign in the 14 years it has been on the property. 
 

7. The adequacy of ingress and egress to and within the site of the proposed use, traffic flow 
and control, the adequacy of off-street parking and loading areas, the adequacy of required 
yard and open space requirements and sign provisions.  
a. Traffic flow and control is not applicable to this request as it is specifically for the sign. 

While the currently adopted UDC does not have provisions for billboards, the existing 
billboard complies with previously adopted development standards.  
 

8. The availability and adequacy of required utilities and services to serve the proposed use. 
These utilities and services include, but are not limited to, sanitary and storm sewers, water, 
electrical and gas service, police and fire protection, schools, parks and recreation facilities 
and services, and other similar public facilities and services.  
a. The only utility that would be needed for the billboard is electricity, which is already onsite 

via Evergy.  
 

9. The extent to which the proposed use would adversely affect the capacity or safety of that 
portion of the road network influenced by the proposed use, or present parking problems in 
the vicinity of the property.  
a. The billboard would not affect the capacity of safety of the road network or present any 

parking problems.  
 

10. The environmental impacts that the proposed use would create (if any) including, but not 
limited to, excessive storm water runoff, water pollution, air pollution, noise pollution, 
excessive nighttime lighting or other environmental harm.  
a. The only possible impact of the billboard would be nighttime lighting, however City staff 

has not received any complaints regarding the lighting of the sign. 
 

11. The economic impact of the proposed use on the community.  
a. The sign could be utilized to attract businesses and travelers into Edgerton, leading to a 

potential increase in property tax and/or sales tax. 
 

12. The relative gain (if any) to the public health, safety, and welfare from a denial of the 
application for conditional use permit as compared to the hardship imposed upon the 
conditional use applicant from such denial.  
a. There would be little to no gain to the public health, safety, and welfare of the City of 

Edgerton should this request be denied. If the request is denied, the applicant would be 
required to remove the billboards from the property, which would be a significant 
hardship. Due to that potential hardship, City staff recommends the approval of the CUP 
for five (5) years. 
 

13. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, Capital Improvement Plan, ordinances, policies, 
and applicable City Code of the City of Edgerton, and the general safety, health, comfort and 
general welfare of the community.  
a. The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) within the Comprehensive Plan designates the subject 

property as Gateway Commercial, and the billboard is consistent with the FLUM. While the 
UDC does not allow new billboards currently, the Planning Commission does have the 
authority to recommend approval of a CUP for a structure per Section 7.1.B.  



CU2024-0101 
Edgerton Planning Commission – August 13, 2024 

 

Page 6 of 6 

 
14. In addition to the above criteria, the recommendation of professional staff is also required per 

Ordinance 798 (2005). Staff recommendation is addressed in the Recommendations Section 
of this Staff Report. 

 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

1 Photos of Current Billboard  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends approval of Rezoning Application CU2024-0101, Ad Trend, LLC Southern 
Billboard with the following stipulations: 
 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the repairs must 

be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. Failure to maintain the 
sign will result in revocation of the CUP.  
 

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of Edgerton 
Governing Body. 
 

Note: For Application CU2024-0101 the Planning Commission is the recommending 
body for the application to the Governing Body. The Application will be presented to 
the Governing Body on September 12, 2024.  





 

 

7. CU2024-0101: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION FOR THE SOUTHERN 
BILLBOARD SIGN LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD 
 
Mr. Dahir spoke before the Commission. He explained this application is for the southern 
billboard and all of the other information provided during his presentation for CU2024-0100 
is the same fort this application.  
 
Chairperson Daley opened the public hearing. No comments were made at this time. 
Commissioner Little moved to close the public hearing, and the motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Draskovich. The public hearing was closed, with a 3-0 vote. 
 
Mr. Chris Clinton, Planning and Zoning Coordinator, addressed the Commission. He stated the 
request for this application is for approval of a CUP of the southern billboard located at 36450 
Frontage Road. This is the same property as CUP Application CU2024-0100 and the 
information is the same. The 16.09± acre property was annexed into the City of Edgerton on 
February 28, 2008 then rezoned to C-2 on April 24, 2008. The first CUP was approved on 
March 25, 2010 with the latest renewal being on October 10, 2019. It was renewed for five 
(5) years, so the CUP expires in October of this year. Mr. Clinton said the August 2019 
amendments to the UDC also affect this billboard. City staff used the standards outlined 
previously and will point out the same criteria for this request as that made in CU2024-0100 
and provide City staff’s determination on the criteria. 
 
Mr. Clinton stated the character of the neighborhood, such as zoning, land use, residential 
density, and open space is the first criterion. The property abuts I-35 and is zoned C-2 and 
the only development in the area is on the subject property. The second criterion is the nature 
and density of the proposed use. The subject property is adjacent to I-35 and is one (1) of 
the structures on the property with no other properties having any structures. The third 
criterion is any detrimental effect to nearby properties. Mr. Clinton stated the signs have been 
on the subject property for 14 years and there have been no complaints submitted to City 
staff. The next criterion is the relative gain, if any, to denial versus the potential hardship on 
the applicant. He stated there wouldn't be any gain to the public health, safety, or welfare, 
however the applicant would be required to remove the billboard if the CUP is denied. Mr. 
Clinton explained the next criterion was consistency with the Comprehensive Plan. The Future 
Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan designates the subject property as Gateway 
Commercial, which the billboard is consistent with.  
 
Mr. Clinton stated the final criterion is staff’s recommendation. City staff  recommends 
approval of CUP Application CU2024-0101 with the following stipulations: 
 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the repairs 

must be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. Failure to maintain 
the sign will result in revocation of the CUP. 
 

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of Edgerton 
Governing Body. 

 
Commissioner Draskovich moved to recommend approval of Application CU2024-0101 with 
the stipulations outlined by City staff to the Governing Body, seconded by Commissioner 



 

 

Mathos. Application CU2024-0101 was recommended for approval as stipulated, with a 4-0 
vote. 
 

8. UDCA2024-0001: PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 3 OF THE EDGERTON 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE  
 
Mr. Zachary Moore, Development Services Director, spoke before the Commission. He 
explained that the UDC outlines standards for Single Family Residential (R-1) zoned property. 
The standards for driveways in R-1 are the minimum width and materials the driveway is 
made of. Mr. Moore explained City staff is requesting direction from the Commission for 
additional standards on driveways and to create fence regulations for R-1 zoned properties. 
 
Mr. Moore began with going through the requirements currently listed in the UDC for 
driveways. The required minimum width of a driveway is 18 feet and there is no maximum 
width at the approach. He explained that this could become an issue for the City when street 
projects that requires replacing drive approaches, it could lead to large expanses of replacing 
driveway approaches. It will also be aesthetically pleasing to have a standard width. He stated 
City staff is recommending a maximum width of 35% of the lot width or a 30-foot maximum 
at the right-of-way. The minimum width of 18 feet would remain. For a 70-foot-wide lot, 
which is what the UDC minimum lot width in R-1, would be 24.5 feet. The minimum driveway 
width of 18 feet is equivalent to the width of two (2) parking stalls side-by-side. A two and a 
half (2.5) foot flare where the driveway meets the street would be permitted on each side of 
the driveway. Mr. Moore stated that the connection point at the street would be 35 feet, which 
is the maximum width that the City allows at Logistics Park Kansas City (LPKC). Mr. Moore 
clarified that the driveway may widen once the driveway is two (2) feet behind the property 
line, up to the maximum lot coverage, so additional parking can be added. 
 
Mr. Moore said that these proposed changes is for the R-1 zoning designation, nothing in A-
G or other residentially zoned parcels. Any new construction, new driveways, or expansions 
for the driveway will need to meet the updates, if they are adopted. Any existing conditions 
can remain once the amendments are adopted and maintenance can be done on existing 
driveways, but no new gravel driveways or parking areas will be allowed.  
 
Mr. Moore explained City staff is recommending that the UDC be amended to limit the number 
of driveways that can service a lot. The proposal would limit any single-family residence be 
limited to one (1) driveway connection to the public right-of-way, either from a street or alley. 
Gated driveways would be permitted; however, the gate would need to be setback as to not 
impede traffic either in the street or pedestrians utilizing the sidewalk. Therefore, City staff 
proposes a setback of 25 feet for driveway gates. The gates would also be required to meet 
fire access requirements. The final item that is proposed regarding driveways is that of the 
material used to construct the driveway. He stated the current standard states that asphalt 
or concrete must be used for the driveway. City staff is proposing to add to that standard to 
help clarify precisely what can and cannot be used. City staff recommends that asphalt millings 
be prohibited, as with gravel. The UDC should state that the driveway must be a paved 
surface. Mr. Moore said City staff would also find it beneficial to allow brick pavers to be used 
as an accent material for driveways. The pavers would need to be laid on concrete and cannot 
be in the public right-of-way. He explained not allowing the pavers in the City would mean if 
the City were working on the street and the approach is being replaced, the City will not be 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2168 
 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON 
PLANNING COMMISSION TO APPROVE A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (CU2024-
0101) ALLOWING A BILLBOARD IN THE C-2 (HEAVY SERVICE COMMERCIAL) 
DISTRICT LOCATED AT 36450 FRONTAGE ROAD, EDGERTON, KANSAS  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas received Application CU2024-0101 for a 
Conditional Use Permit from Ad Trend, LLC (the “Applicant”) on June 29, 2024 for the 
property located at 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas (the “Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, both at the time of application and at the time of the signing of this 

Ordinance, the property is owned by Mico, Inc. (the “Owner”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Owner has signed and submitted an affidavit granting the Applicant 

the permission to apply for a Conditional Use Permit on the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant is requesting permission to operate, pursuant to the terms 

of a Conditional Use Permit, a billboard; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Edgerton Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 13, 

2024 on the requested Conditional Use Permit in accordance with the requirements as set 
forth in the Edgerton Zoning Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Edgerton Planning Commission voted to approve the Conditional Use 

Permit request for a period of five (5) years, conditioned on the following being adhered to 
by the Applicant and any future owner or tenant of the Property within that five-year period. 

 
1. The sign must be kept in good condition. If repairs to the sign are required, the 

repairs must be in accordance with the time frame of the City of Edgerton UDC. 
Failure to maintain the sign will result in revocation of the CUP.  

2. This CUP will be valid for five (5) years from the date of approval by the City of 
Edgerton Governing Body. 
 

WHEREAS, the City Governing Body, after reviewing the Conditional Use Permit and 
considering the criteria set forth in Article 7 of the City Zoning regulations and the 
recommendations of the Planning Commission, finds the Conditional Use Permit should be 
approved upon the terms described above.  
 

WHEREAS, all required newspaper and mailing notifications were performed. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS: 
 

Section 1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit for a Billboard is hereby approved 
for the property located at 36450 Frontage Road, Edgerton, Kansas.  

 
Section 2. The Conditional Use Permit approved by this Ordinance is expressly 



 

conditioned on the Applicant/Owner’s strict compliance with the two (2) conditions set forth 
above, which were recommended by the Edgerton City staff, Planning Commission, and 
approved by the Edgerton City Council.  

 
Section 3. The validity of this Conditional Use Permit is conditioned upon the strict 

compliance by the Applicant/Owner with the provisions contained herein as well as strict 
compliance with the City of Edgerton Zoning Regulations. Should the Applicant/Owner fail to 
comply with any term or provision thereof and should such failure continue following written 
notice from the City to the Applicant/Owner specifying the breach and actions to be taken 
to cure the same, then, at the direction of the City Administrator, the Applicant/Owner will 
be notified that this Conditional Use Permit is revoked, and all uses permitted herein on the 
Property must immediately cease. Reinstatement following default may only occur through 
action of the Governing Body. Wholly separate and apart from the specific conditions of the 
City’s Zoning Regulations are the City’s interest and duties to protect the public health, safety 
and welfare. The Applicant/Owner agrees that this Ordinance shall not operate or be 
construed to impede or impair the lawful function of City government operation in this area. 
 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced from and after its publication 
once in the official City newspaper. All Zoning Regulations of the City of Edgerton, Kansas 
affecting the use of the Property heretofore described which are inconsistent with this 
Ordinance are hereby made inapplicable to said Property until the Conditional Use Permit 
expires, is vacated, or is declared null and void.  
 
ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF 
EDGERTON, KANSAS ON THE 12th DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2024. 
 
 
      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
      By: __________________________ 
       Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________ 
TODD LUCKMAN for 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP, City Attorneys 
 



 

Agenda Item: Hold Public Hearing To Discuss A Possible Dangerous and 
Unsafe Building Existing At 301 E. 5th Street In The City Of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas Pursuant to Resolution 07-11-24A And City of 
Edgerton Municipal Code, Chapter IV, Article 4, Section 4-1107. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
On July 11, 2024, the City Council adopted Resolution 07-11-24A, which set a date of 
September 12, 2024 to conduct a public hearing regarding the property at 301 E. 5th Street, 
pursuant to Section 4-1105 of the Edgerton Municipal Code and K.S.A. 12-1752. This public 
hearing provides an opportunity for the property’s owner, owner’s agent, any lien holders of 
record, and any occupant of the property to appear and show cause why such structure should 
not be condemned and ordered repaired or demolished.  
 
Since Resolution 07-11-24A was adopted, the Resolution has been published twice in the Legal 
Record (July 16 and July 23), in accordance with State law and City Code requirements. Staff 
has been in contact with the property owner (Danny O’Neal) and has met with him on site. The 
owner has taken steps to improve the structure by obtaining a permit to repair the roof on the 
southwest portion of the house and by reconnecting the house to the electrical meter with 
power having been turned back on September 9, 2024.  
 
Upon further inspection of the structure, what appeared to have been the structural foundation 
in the northeast and southeast corner of the structure that was identified in the enclosed 
Building Official’s Inspection Report dated June 21, 2024 turned out to be a pier foundation 
that is in good condition that staff has no concern of the structural integrity of. Additionally, 
the property owner has cleaned the tree debris referenced in the Building Official’s Inspection 
Report from the property. 
 
Due to the actions taken by the property owner as described above, staff no longer has concerns 
of the property potentially dangerous or unsafe and recommends that a resolution declaring the 
property as such not be adopted.  
 
Should the City Council find the property to be dangerous or unsafe following the public hearing, 
staff will prepare a resolution for the September 26 City Council meeting. 
 



Recommendation: Close Public Hearing Discussing A Possible Dangerous 
and Unsafe Building Existing At 301 E. 5th Street In The City Of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas Pursuant to Resolution 07-11-24A And City of 
Edgerton Municipal Code, Chapter IV, Article 4, Section 4-1107 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statute(s): Municipal Code Chapter IV, Article 11; KSA 12-1752 
 

 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 
 
Enclosed:  

1. Resolution 07-11-24A 
2. Excerpt of Minutes from the July 11, 2024 City Council Meeting Pertaining to Resolution 

07-11-24A 
3. Letter from Property Owner 
4. Building Official’s Request for Condemnation/Inspection Report Dated June 21, 2024  

  
 







Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
July 11, 2024 
Page 3  
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Ryan Murray with ETC Institute presented the survey data.  
 
The purpose of doing this survey is for the city to ask questions and see the improvements 
in categories. Mr. Murray stated that the city does a good job with asking similar questions 
over the years to target the satisfaction of the populus and target some pressure points. 
 
This is the 6th survey done with Edgerton since 2013. It takes about 13 – 18 minutes 
completed online. He stated that Edgerton continues to trend well compared with other 
communities. Benchmarks compared to the national average are significantly above 
average.  
 
He stated comparative disadvantages that resulted from the survey were the adequacy of 
city street lighting and infrastructure, which is very common in smaller towns. 
 
Councilmember Longanecker stated that he hopes that the next survey residents remember 
the major street construction that we will be doing this year. 
 
Councilmember Conus added that even if we were to resurface every road in Edgerton there 
would be complaints of some sort.  
 
Beth stated that sometimes residents will see a street being resurfaced in another 
neighborhood and forget that their street was touched 3-5 years ago.  
 
She added the City has quite a few major projects that have a lot longer of a lead time from 
beginning to end and she is hoping that these projects like the Greenspace, Glendale Park 
and other park upgrades in the city will be recognized by the time the next survey is 
released in 2026.  
 
Mr. Murray stated the percentage of return is high compared to other communities. 
Edgerton gets about 33% of surveys back when other communities are closer to 20%.  
 
Council thanks Mr. Murray for the results. 

 
9. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 07-11-24A PROVIDING FOR A HEARING TO 

DISCUSS A POSSIBLE DANGEROUS AND UNSAFE BUILDING EXISTING AT 301 E. 
5TH STREET IN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS PURSUANT 
TO CITY OF EDGERTON MUNICIPAL CODE, CHAPTER IV, ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4-
1105 
 
Development Services Director Zachary Moore stated that Jim Brown,city building inspector, 
did an inspection and report which is exhibit A.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker says that he went by the property earlier today and there is 
not a lot happening with the property and that we should pursue action in the best interest 
of the city. 
 



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
July 11, 2024 
Page 4  
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Councilmember Lebakken says that she did see that there was someone at the property last 
Friday working over there.   
 
Councilmember Lebakken moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Malloy. The 
agreement was approved, 4-0. 

 
 
10. CONSIDER AMENDMENT TO THE COOPERATION AGREEMENT WITH THE BOARD 

OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS FOR RENEWING 
PARTICIPATION IN THE JOHNSON COUNTY URBAN COUNTY FOR 
PARTICIPATION IN THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG), 
HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS (HOME), AND EMERGENCY SOLUTIONS 
GRANT (ESG) 
 
CIP Project Manager Holly Robertson stated there are three programs that the City is able to 
participate in: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Home Investment Partnerships 
(HOME), and Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG).  
 
On June 27, 2024, Johnson County Planning, Housing & Community Development issued an 
amendment to the Cooperation Agreement to the City. The amendment is necessary for the 
County to continue to meet HUD requirements for cooperation agreements for Urban 
County Qualifications. 
 
Councilmember Lebakken asked how the word curing was being used in this situation. Ms. 
Robertson answered curing essentially means remedy in this instance. For example, if a 
house was out of code and had to be cited for code violations. 

 
Councilmember Conus moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember 
Longanecker. The motion was approved, 4-0. 

 
11. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2162 AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A LOAN 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS AND THE STATE OF 
KANSAS, ACTING BY AND THROUGH THE KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
ENVIRONMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF OBTAINING A LOAN FROM THE KANSAS 
WATER POLLUTION CONTROL REVOLVING FUND FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
FINANCING A WASTEWATER TREATMENT PROJECT; ESTABLISHING A 
DEDICATED REVENUE FOR REPAYMENT OF SUCH LOAN; AUTHORIZING AND 
APPROVING CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND 
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN 
AGREEMENT. 
 
Public Works Director Dan Merkh presented the Dwyer Sewer Sanitary Sewer Extension 
project.  
 
Councilmember Conus asked if those funds from the development go anywhere besides the 
City. Ms. Linn answered no. 



My response for the Edgerton City Council: 

Ten years ago I started investing my money in this town. I have bought several homes, spent my life 

savings plus more because I knew Edgerton was going to grow. I believed Edgerton was a great town 

with great potential, although I had others who didn’t agree with my beliefs. It was the greatest thing I 

have ever done. I love this town. I have no regrets. My dad was my true mentor and he guided me to all 

my investments. He had great faith in me and knew my lifelong desires. 

301 E. 5th St. has great potential for resale or for a rental property. This is my list of the new work I have 

done to upgrade this home over the last two years. I have electric to the home, water and sewer service. 

I have completed all of the upgrades with professional quality. 

New Items Added 

1. HVAC furnace 

2. Plumbing to bath, water heater, kitchen and laundry 

3. Water Heater 

4. Vinyl double-pane windows 

5. Carpet in primary bedroom 

6. Cabinets in kitchen 

7. Moved electric panel to new location (Permitted) 

8. Electrical (Plugs, Switches, Light Fixtures) 

9. Ductwork to all rooms 

10. Doors and jambs 

11. Front entry door 

12. Roof on southwest corner of house (Permitted) 

13. Vinyl siding on outside south wall of the primary bedroom 

 

Repairs 

        1. Rebuilt the kitchen sub-floor with ¾” plywood 

       2. Evergy restored the service line on 9/9/24 which was impacted by a storm 

 

Comments 

My current stage in the remodel upgrade is at drywall, paint and flooring 

 

 

I own several homes in this town and have remodeled each house so that the home is in like-new 

condition and is rented currently. I strive to make every house a home that I, myself, would be proud to 

live in. 

 

I am retired and live on a fixed income. I spend everything I can to keep all my homes updated to better 

the community. Zach and the building inspector have been great to work with and help me through the 

process to reach my goals of completing this home to be either sold or rented. I’m asking you, the City 

Council, to trust in me and have confidence in me that I will follow through on my goals on this home. I 

do believe my past record with my properties makes a true statement of my commitment to this great 

city. 



 

Page 1 of 2   

 
 

 
 

 

 

Building Official’s Request for Condemnation 

 

The City of Edgerton Community Development Department has determined that the following structure is 

dangerous and unsafe as defined by the Municipal Code and Kansas Statutes Annotated.    

 

Request By: Jim Brown, CBO, LEED Green Associate    Date: 06/21/2024 

 

Address:   301 E 5th Street 

 

KS Uniform Parcel #: 0462030701012001000            City of Edgerton, Kansas. 
 

Legal Description: CITY OF EDGERTON (MARTIN) LTS 1-6 EX PT IN SE CR LT 1 2BLK 22 EDC 355 

 

Occupancy Status:  Vacant. 

 

Building Description:   Residential building 

 

Zoning: R-1 

 

Appraised value of the structure: $107,500 (Per Johnson Co. Appraiser’s office as of June 2024) 

 

Taxes and other assessments owed:  Taxes are current. Not aware of other assessments.  

 
Background:   

The structure at 301 E 5th Street is a 1,068 square foot single family structure constructed in 1900. 

The property is currently zoned R-1 (Single Family Residence District). The property area is .41 
acres. 

 

Owner 1:  Danny P. O’Neal                       Owner 2: Jane A. O’Neal 
               26845 W 207th Street                              26845 W 207th Street     

               Gardner, KS 66030                                 Gardner, KS 66030 

 
On June 3, 2024, in response to complaints received involving an unoccupied, vacant and dilapidated 

structure located at 301 E 5th Street an investigation was carried out. During this investigation, several 

significant violations were observed and documented as noted in the inspection report (attached). 
 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 2   

 

 

 

 

  

 

                                       DANGEROUS STRUCTURES INSPECTION  
Municipal Code Chapter IV, Article 11 

       Following an inspection of the subject property at 301 E. 5th Street, the City Inspector found the following: 

  

1. The structural foundation elements located at the southeast and northeast corners are 

in extreme disrepair and has reached its limit state. The current condition demonstrates a 

lack of stability in supporting the imposed loads. 

2. The roof structure shows evidence of extreme dilapidation and deterioration.  

3.  The electrical service is in disrepair whereas the mast and weather head has broken 
away from the meter base. The electrical meter and housing has been removed. The gas 

meter has been removed. There is no evidence of active utilities for this structure.  

4. The building is vacant, leading to its enticement as an attractive nuisance, which may 

contribute to harboring of vagrants and other unauthorized persons.  

5. In addition to the violations noted on the principal dwelling, there exists a large amount 

of tree debris in the rear yard.  

        

All dangerous buildings and structures are hereby declared to be a public nuisance and shall be vacated, 

repaired and/or demolished in accordance with the procedures specified in the Municipal Code and under 

authority of Kansas Statutes Annotated KSA 12-1750 through 12- 1756a. 

 

 

 

 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Ordinance No. 2169 Amending Article 3 – 
Agricultural and Residence Districts - Of The Unified Development Code 
(UDC) Of The City Of Edgerton, Kansas And Repealing All Ordinances Or 
Parts Of Ordinances In Conflict Therewith 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
The City of Edgerton’s Uniform Development Code (UDC) was adopted to encourage the most 
appropriate use of land and to ensure the logical and compatible growth of various districts 
within the City. The UDC is intended to implement the planning goals and policies contained in 
the Envision Edgerton 2050 Comprehensive Plan, other planning documents, and policies of the 
City Council and Planning Commission. 
 
During a recent review of the Unified Development Code (UDC), staff identified a section of the 
Code that should be updated to help promote the character of the City as the it grows. This 
section of the UDC pertains directly to properties zoned R-1 (Single Family Residences). These 
proposed updates will introduce new standards for driveways, further clarify existing language 
regarding driveway materials, and implement new standards for fences. 
 
This proposed update will provide additional clarification of what materials may be used for 
residential driveways. The current UDC states that all driveways to a single-family residential 
unit must be 18 feet in width and constructed with concrete or asphalt. The new proposed 
language further clarifies that concrete or asphalt pavement must be used for driveway 
construction, but also provides a list of prohibited driveway materials such as gravel, crushed 
rock and asphalt millings. The current UDC does not allow the use of loose aggregate materials 
today, such as gravel, this proposed language is recommended to further clarify that to readers. 
 
The current UDC establishes a minimum width of residential driveways (18 feet) but does not 
have an established maximum width. Staff recommends that a driveway width maximum be 
implemented that would allow a driveway to be a maximum of 35% of the lot width that the 
driveway serves, but in no case may a driveway be greater than 30 feet wide. A driveway would 
also be permitted to have a 2 ½ foot flare on either side at the approach in addition to the 
maximum width.  
 
During the public hearing at the August 13, 2024 Planning Commission meeting, the Planning 
Commission recommended that language be added to the proposed updates allowing the Zoning 



Recommendation: Approve Ordinance No. 2169 Amending Article 3 – 
Agricultural and Residence Districts – Of The Unified Development Code 
(UDC) And Repealing All Ordinances Or Parts Of Ordinances In Conflict 
Therewith 
 

Administrator to permit, on a case-by-case basis, an alternate or otherwise prohibited material 
when a driveway is longer than 50 feet from the public right-of-way, provided that the 
alternative material not be located any closer than 50 feet from the public right-of-way.  
 
Regarding fences, staff is proposing new maximum fence heights for front yards (3 ½ feet) and 
side & rear yards (6 feet). Fences will also be required to be at least 50% transparent in front 
yards, which could be constructed of decorative aluminum, wrought iron, chain link, split rail, 
wood picket, or a material similar to those. If a gated pedestrian entryway is proposed in the 
front yard, the gated entry feature is permitted to reach a maximum of 8 feet in height, for a 
span of 6 feet in width at the sidewalk on private property. 
 
As stated previously, a public hearing was held at the August 13, 2024 Edgerton Planning 
Commission meeting, where no members of the public spoke. The Planning Commission 
recommended approval of the proposed updates to Article 3 of the UDC as presented with the 
addition of language allowing the Zoning Administrator to approve alternative driveway 
materials on a case-by-case basis no less than 50 feet back from the public right-of-way. This 
language has been included in the enclosed draft ordinance.  
 
A copy of the memo to the Planning Commission and draft minutes from the August 13, 2024 
Planning Commission meeting are included within this packet.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): Edgerton UDC Article 3, Section 3.2.F 

 
 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  Planning Commission Memo – August 13, 2024 Meeting 

Planning Commission Minutes – August 13, 2024 Meeting  
DRAFT Ordinance 2169 

   
Prepared by:   Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 



 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 

Date:  August 13, 2024 
 
To:  City of Edgerton Planning Commission  
 
From:  Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 
 
Re: Public Hearing for UDCA2024-0001 For Amendments to Article 3 (Agriculture and 

Residence Districts) of the Edgerton Unified Development Code (UDC) – specifically 
Driveways and Fences 

 
The current Unified Development Code (UDC) includes standards for driveways in the R-1 District, but the 
currently adopted standards are limited to minimum width and driveways must be constructed with specific 
materials. Regarding fences, there are currently no standards for fences in the R-1 District adopted, which 
could allow for installation of fences that would not be consistent with the character of the City that we 
would like to see continue as we grow. Staff has identified several design criteria for both driveways and 
fences that will help promote the residential character that the City desires. 
 
Driveways - Width 
The current UDC requires that driveways be a minimum of 18 feet in width, however, that does not include 
a maximum width that a driveway can be at the drive approach. This can lead to large spans of paved 
material within the City right-of-way, that the City may need to replace if a reconstruction project takes 
place. Additionally, large spans of paved material limit the amount of green space that is in the front yard, 
which can appear unsightly.  
 

 
Staff proposes that the current standard of minimum width of 
18 feet remain. This width is typical to accommodate two (2) 
passenger vehicles, as the standard dimension for a parking 
stall is 9 feet by 18-20 feet. Staff recommends introducing a 
driveway width maximum (to be measured at the right-of-
way/property line) of 35% of the total lot width, but in no case 
to exceed 30 feet in width at the right-of-way line. In addition 
to the maximum 30 foot width, a driveway may include 2 ½ 
foot flared ‘wings’ on either side of the driveway.  
 
The driveway may expand in width beginning 2 feet set back 
of the right-of-way/property line, provided that the maximum 
lot coverage for the lot is not exceeded. 
 
For instance, the minimum lot width for a lot zoned R-1 (Single 
Family Residences) in the City is 70 feet. For a lot of this size, 
the driveway may be between 18 feet and 24 ½ feet, with a 
2 ½ foot wing on either side of the driveway. The image to 
the left depicts the maximum width of a driveway on the 
minimum lot size in Edgerton. 



2 

Driveways – Number Of 
The Edgerton UDC currently does not place a maximum on the number of driveways that can service a 
lot. Staff is proposing that any single-family residence be limited to a maximum of one (1) new driveway 
connection to the public right-of-way, whether that be platted street right-of-way or alley right-of-way. 
 
Gated Driveways 
The current UDC does not speak to setback requirements for gated driveways. Should a property owner 
wish to add a gate to their driveway, the gate should be set back far enough on the property to ensure 
that the flow of traffic in the right-of-way does not get blocked and that vehicles awaiting entry through 
the gate do not impede the sidewalk. To account for this, staff recommends that a gate for a driveway be 
placed 25 feet back from the right-of-way/property line. 
 
Driveways – Material 
The Edgerton UDC currently requires that all new driveways be constructed of asphalt or concrete. Staff 
is recommending that additional standards be added to driveway material requirements, specifically 
clarifying that the asphalt or concrete must be paved, and not asphalt millings. Additionally, staff is 
proposing that brick pavers may be used as an accent material on driveways, provided that they are laid 
on concrete. In no case may brick pavers used as an accent be placed in the public right-of-way.  
 
In scenarios where the City must replace a driveway following a construction project, the City will replace 
the damaged portion of the driveway with concrete.  
 
Fences – Height 
The Edgerton UDC permits fences as an accessory to a home in the R-1 District, however, the Code does 
not have any standards for fences currently. Staff is recommending that height maximums be implemented 
for fences in the R-1 District. Staff is recommending that the maximum fence height be six (6) feet for 
side and rear yards and 3 ½ feet for front yards. When applying the height maximum, the front line of 
the house will serve as the dividing line. In no case may a fence be greater than 3 ½ feet in height when 
located between the front line of the house and the right-of-way line. The one exception to this height 
maximum would be if a property owner wishes to construct an entry gateway at a sidewalk connection to 
the property. A gateway may be placed at the sidewalk connection to the public sidewalk and may not 
exceed 8 feet in height nor 6 feet in width.  
 
Fences – Material 
As mentioned above, the UDC permits fences as an accessory to a home in the R-1 District, however, the 
UDC does not include any fencing material standards. To ensure that the community has a welcoming 
appearance, staff recommends adding material requirements for fences. Staff recommends that fences in 
the front yard (as defined above) must be at least 50% transparent (i.e. split rail, decorative aluminum, 
chain link, etc.). 
 
All fences must be made of one of the following types of construction or similar: brick or stone walls or 
pillars, wood stockade, wood lattice, chain link, split rail, wood rail, wrought iron, decorative aluminum, 
spaced picket fence, imitation vinyl, or composite fence panel. In no scenario may barbed wire, chicken 
wire, or above ground electric fencing be used.  
 
Conclusion 
Staff requests that the Commissioners provide any additional feedback regarding Article 3 as it relates to 
fences and driveways. Staff will collect final comments or feedback and incorporate them into a final 



3 

version of these Articles, which would be presented to the City Council for review, consideration, and 
adoption. Prior to presentation to the City Council, staff will provide a revised copy of the UDC to the City 
Attorney for review.  
 
Please note that should this update be approved, driveways in the City may remain in their current 
condition as of the date of adoption and may be improved, so long as any existing legal nonconformities 
are increased upon. 



 

 

Mathos. Application CU2024-0101 was recommended for approval as stipulated, with a 4-0 
vote. 
 

8. UDCA2024-0001: PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 3 OF THE EDGERTON 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE  
 
Mr. Zachary Moore, Development Services Director, spoke before the Commission. He 
explained that the UDC outlines standards for Single Family Residential (R-1) zoned property. 
The standards for driveways in R-1 are the minimum width and materials the driveway is 
made of. Mr. Moore explained City staff is requesting direction from the Commission for 
additional standards on driveways and to create fence regulations for R-1 zoned properties. 
 
Mr. Moore began with going through the requirements currently listed in the UDC for 
driveways. The required minimum width of a driveway is 18 feet and there is no maximum 
width at the approach. He explained that this could become an issue for the City when street 
projects that requires replacing drive approaches, it could lead to large expanses of replacing 
driveway approaches. It will also be aesthetically pleasing to have a standard width. He stated 
City staff is recommending a maximum width of 35% of the lot width or a 30-foot maximum 
at the right-of-way. The minimum width of 18 feet would remain. For a 70-foot-wide lot, 
which is what the UDC minimum lot width in R-1, would be 24.5 feet. The minimum driveway 
width of 18 feet is equivalent to the width of two (2) parking stalls side-by-side. A two and a 
half (2.5) foot flare where the driveway meets the street would be permitted on each side of 
the driveway. Mr. Moore stated that the connection point at the street would be 35 feet, which 
is the maximum width that the City allows at Logistics Park Kansas City (LPKC). Mr. Moore 
clarified that the driveway may widen once the driveway is two (2) feet behind the property 
line, up to the maximum lot coverage, so additional parking can be added. 
 
Mr. Moore said that these proposed changes is for the R-1 zoning designation, nothing in A-
G or other residentially zoned parcels. Any new construction, new driveways, or expansions 
for the driveway will need to meet the updates, if they are adopted. Any existing conditions 
can remain once the amendments are adopted and maintenance can be done on existing 
driveways, but no new gravel driveways or parking areas will be allowed.  
 
Mr. Moore explained City staff is recommending that the UDC be amended to limit the number 
of driveways that can service a lot. The proposal would limit any single-family residence be 
limited to one (1) driveway connection to the public right-of-way, either from a street or alley. 
Gated driveways would be permitted; however, the gate would need to be setback as to not 
impede traffic either in the street or pedestrians utilizing the sidewalk. Therefore, City staff 
proposes a setback of 25 feet for driveway gates. The gates would also be required to meet 
fire access requirements. The final item that is proposed regarding driveways is that of the 
material used to construct the driveway. He stated the current standard states that asphalt 
or concrete must be used for the driveway. City staff is proposing to add to that standard to 
help clarify precisely what can and cannot be used. City staff recommends that asphalt millings 
be prohibited, as with gravel. The UDC should state that the driveway must be a paved 
surface. Mr. Moore said City staff would also find it beneficial to allow brick pavers to be used 
as an accent material for driveways. The pavers would need to be laid on concrete and cannot 
be in the public right-of-way. He explained not allowing the pavers in the City would mean if 
the City were working on the street and the approach is being replaced, the City will not be 



 

 

responsible for putting pavers in the approach. Commissioner Draskovich recommended that 
loose aggregate be added to the prohibited materials so it would also include sand, pea gravel, 
and other similar materials. 
 
Mr. Moore stated regarding fences, they are allowed as an accessory structure, but there are 
no regulations on fences. City staff is proposing height limits and material restrictions for 
fences. The first height limitation will be for fences in front yard. This will be fences located 
between the front of the house and the street. Mr. Moore explained that if the garage is set 
forward from the house, then the fence height would be from the front of the garage to the 
street. The proposed height limit would be three and a half (3.5) feet, which was decided on 
as that is the height listed in the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices as the standard 
eye height for a passenger car, and the fence must be at least 50% transparent. This would 
require the material be lattice, chain link, wrought iron, or other similar materials. This would 
prevent any walls or stockade-style privacy fences in the front yard. Mr. Moore stated that 
these requirements would be for new fences or future development only. He said an exception 
to the height requirement in the front yard would be for a gated entryway, like an ornamental 
gate, with the maximum height of eight (8) feet and a maximum width of six (6) feet. For the 
side and rear yard, a fence would be allowed to be a maximum of six (6) feet in height. Mr. 
Moore explained the materials for fences in the side and rear yard will be allowed to be stone, 
wood stockade, wood lattice, chain link, split rail, wood rail, wrought iron, decorative 
aluminum, spaced picket fence, imitation vinyl, or composite fence panel. He said that existing 
fences not meeting this material list will not have to be removed, but it cannot be replaced 
with a prohibited material. Commissioner Draskovich stated that this would be a normal type 
of fence in the side and rear yard and no eyesores in the front yard. He clarified that no above 
ground electric fence could be used. Mr. Moore stated that is correct.  
 
Chairperson Daley opened the public hearing. There were no comments made at this time. 
Commissioner Mathos moved to close the public hearing. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Little. The public hearing was closed, with a 3-0 vote. 
 
Commissioner Draskovich recommended that concrete not be required for a driveway on a 
large residential lot. He explained that it would become cost prohibitive to develop those lots 
if a full concrete drive is required. He recommended that a limit be set on how long a concrete 
driveway must be. Mr. Moore inquired if it should be a footage setback or to allow the Zoning 
Administrator the authority to make case-by-case determinations. Commissioner Draskovich 
added that an apron of some sort will be needed to keep gravel or other material off of the 
roadway and require a concrete pad at the house as well to help seal the garage. 
Commissioner Mathos stated she likes allowing the Zoning Administrator to make case-by-
case determination. Chairperson Daley agreed that the Zoning Administrator should have that 
authority however there should be a set amount that should have to be concrete or pavement. 
Commissioner Draskovich said the setbacks are typically the same in a neighborhood and 
there should be a minimum distance that must be paved or concrete. Mr. Moore suggested 
to add language of allowing the Zoning Administrator to approve alternative materials on a 
case-by-case basis, but in no case may the driveway length be less than 50 feet. That way it 
is always at least to the front yard setback, then there would be minimum impact on public 
right-of-way. He explained that the current development trend is to have more and more 
dense subdivisions. He stated he will create different options of requirements to the Governing 



 

 

Body for them to consider. The Commission agreed it was best to not require longer driveways 
to be fully paved.  
 
Commissioner Little stated that he has a retaining wall and gravel parking area on the side of 
his house. He and his family have considered getting a travel trailer and the parking area 
would need to be expanded. He inquired as to what constitutes a driveway versus a parking 
pad or area. Mr. Moore stated prior to adoption of the amendments, he and Mr. Clinton will 
catalog what conditions are existing. A gravel parking area or pad would be an extension of 
the driveway. He stated that a gravel driveway or parking area is not permitted under the 
current UDC. Commissioner Little inquired a property owner had to drive through grass to get 
to the parking area. Mr. Moore answered it would still be considered part of a driveway. 
Chairperson Daley stated there was a church that wanted to put gravel down for a driveway 
and wasn’t allowed to.  
 
Chairperson Daley asked if the amendments would need to come back to the Commission. 
Mr. Moore replied that City staff has received enough direction from the Commission to draft 
an ordinance, so not necessarily, unless the Commission would like to see the amendments 
prior to the Governing Body wants to see it again. The only item that might need to be 
revisited, would be the case-by-case clause for the driveways. He explained that if the 
Governing Body has other direction, it will then come back to the Commission. He stated he 
can present a brief recap what the Governing Body does regarding the amendments. The 
Commission agreed for a recap after the Governing Body makes a decision. 
 
Commissioner Mathos moved to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to Article 
3 of the UDC. Commissioner Draskovich seconded the motion. The amendments were 
recommended for approval, 4-0.   
 

9. FUTURE MEETING REMINDERS 
 
Chairperson Daley stated that the next regular session is scheduled for September 10, 2024; 
October 8, 2024; and November 12, 2024. 
 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
There were no announcements made at this time. 
 

11. ADJOURN  
 
Commissioner Little moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Mathos seconded the 
motion. The meeting was adjourned at 7:48 PM, 4-0. 
 
 
 
Submitted by Chris Clinton, Planning and Zoning Coordinator 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2169 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE 3 OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOMENT CODE OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS REGARDING REGULATIONS FOR FENCES AND DRIVE-
WAYS WITHIN THE R-1 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES) ZONING DISTRICT AND RE-
PEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT THEREWITH. 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS: 
 

SECTION 1.  Article 3, Section 3.2.F of the Edgerton Unified Development Code shall be 
amended to read as follows: 

 
F. District Regulations. 

1. Storage or use of accessory uses such as boats, boat trailers, camper trailers, jet skis, 
and other similar recreational vehicles up to a maximum of three such uses or devices 
is allowed, provided said uses are located within required rear yards or within estab-
lished side yards.  Such uses shall not include the outdoor storage or parking of com-
mercial trucks or buses that exceed a three-ton manufacturer’s rating hauling capacity, 
except school buses parked in driveways during the daylight hours.    

2. Three off-street parking places shall be provided for each residence, one of which may 
be in the garage. Such parking space shall be at least nine (9) feet by twenty (20) feet.  

3. Each new single-family dwelling unit constructed after the adoption of this ordinance 
shall construct one attached garage.  A garage connected by a breezeway shall com-
ply with this provision.  

4. Each single-family home is permitted to have no more than one (1) driveway that con-
nects to a public right-of-way.  

5. All driveways to a single-family residential unit must meet the following criteria: 
a. The minimum permitted width of a driveway is 18 feet.  
b. The maximum permitted width of a driveway is 35% of the width of the lot, how-

ever, in no case may a driveway be wider than 30 feet.  
i) A 2 ½ foot paved wing may be placed on either side of the driveway at 

the approach, in addition to the maximum width of the driveway.  
c. All driveways must be constructed of paved asphalt or paved concrete. Brick 

pavers may be used as an accent material on driveways, only if laid on con-
crete. The use of brick pavers is not permitted within the public right-of-way.  

d. The use of asphalt millings or any loose aggregate material as a driveway sur-
face is prohibited. This includes but is not limited to gravel, chip-seal material, 
crushed rock or stone, ballast sand, or similar material. 
i) For driveways greater than 50 feet in length, the Zoning Administrator 

may review and consider approval of alternative materials upon written 
request, on a case-by-case basis. However, in no case may the alter-
native material be used closer than 50 feet from the public right-of-way. 

e. A driveway is permitted to be gated, provided that the gate blocking the drive-
way be set back a minimum of 25 feet from the public right-of-way line.  
i) All gates must be compliant with all Fire Code requirements.  

6. All fences in the R-1 District must meet the following criteria: 

a. Front yard fences: 



 

i) Maximum Height: 3 ½ feet 
a. A pedestrian entryway with a gate may reach a maximum of 8 

feet tall if placed at a sidewalk, not to exceed 6 feet in width. 
ii) Minimum Opacity: 50% 
iii) Permitted Materials: Chain link, vinyl-coated chain link, wood or vinyl 

picket, decorative aluminum or wrought iron with or without decorative 
columns, split rail, wood lattice, or similar material. 

iv) Prohibited Materials: Razor wire, chicken wire, barbed wire, above 
ground electrical wire, corrugated metal, woven/welded wire, line wire 
or similar wire or metal material. 

b. Side and rear yard fences: 
i) Maximum Height: 6 feet 
ii) Permitted Materials: Brick or stone walls or pillars, wood stockade, 

wood lattice, chain link, vinyl-coated chain link, split rail, wrought iron, 
decorative aluminum, vinyl or imitation vinyl, composite fence panel, 
spaced picket fence, or similar material. 

iii) Prohibited Materials: Razor wire, chicken wire, barbed wire, above 
ground electrical wire, corrugated metal, woven/welded wire, line wire 
or similar wire or metal material. 

 
SECTION 2. REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES. All ordinances or sections of ordinances 
in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after 
its passage, approval and publication once in the City’s official paper. 
 
PASSED by the Council and APPROVED by the Mayor on this 12th Day of September, 2024 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        DONALD ROBERTS, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
ALEXANDRIA CLOWER, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________ 
TODD LUCKMAN for 
Stumbo Hanson, LLP, City Attorneys 
 



 

Recommendation: Approve Change Order to Contract with Incite Design 
Studio for Construction Phase Services as part of The Greenspace Project 
for $53,580.  

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
 
On August 26, 2021 City Council approved a contract with Incite Design Studio for the design 
of The Greenspace. The project scope and budget were defined, and an update was brought 
to City Council on September 8, 2022. In late 2022, the design for The Greenspace was 
completed and on December 15, 2022, Council approved a contract with Incite Design Studios 
for Construction Phase Services (Phase 2). Then in February of 2023 City Council approved the 
concurrence to bid for construction of the Greenspace and the contract for construction was 
awarded to Combes Construction in July of 2023.  
 
Construction phase services include: 
 Construction Contract Negotiations 

Preparation of Project Manual and Project Specifications 
Construction Administration 

- Submittal Review 
- Design Review/Designs during Construction 

Additional Survey during Construction 
 

Supplemental Services were listed in the original contract document as additional costs if 
required or requested by the Owner. A re-design for the oven hood was required and 
approved by the City Administrator to accommodate the approved oven for the facility. Third 
Party Special Inspection Services are also required to ensure quality assurance of the 
construction materials placed during construction. IDS contracted the inspection and testing 
services through a third-party contractor and passed the cost to Edgerton without a markup. 
Both these additional services and costs included in this change order are shown in the table 
on the following page. 
 
 
 
 
 



Recommendation: Approve Change Order to Contract with Incite Design 
Studio for Construction Phase Services as part of The Greenspace Project 
for $53,580. 

ORIGINAL CONTRACT  $ 615,193.00    

Description  Amount  Authority 
Approval 

Status 

MEP Re-design for Oven Hood  $ 4,000.00  City Administrator Yes 
Third Party Special Inspections and 
Testing  $31,660.00 City Council Pending 
Additional Testing and Inspection 
Services   $ 17,920.00  City Council Pending 
TOTAL CONTRACT TO DATE 
WITH CHANGE ORDERS  $ 668,773.00    

 
This change order encompasses modifications encountered at this point in the construction 
schedule and does not include the final overrun/underrun for the project. Currently there are 
funds available in miscellaneous contingency budget items that could cover this change order 
within the Greenspace total project cost. 
 
Therefore, it is the recommendation of Staff to approve this change order for construction 
phase services of the Greenspace to Incite Design Studio. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
 
Funding Source:     General Obligation Bonds  
 
Budget Allocated:  $ 8,704,950 

Finance Director Approval:     
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  AIA G801 – Notice of Additional Services 
 
Prepared by:  Holly Robertson, P.E. – CIP Project Manager 
     







 

Agenda Item: Consider Change Order #16 to Contract with Combes 
Construction for Additional Pavement related to Construction of The 
Greenspace Project 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: September 12, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
On July 13, 2023, City Council awarded the contract with Combes Construction, LLC for 
construction of The Greenspace Project for $6,761,000.00. Construction began in August of 
2023.  
 
The City ‘s Purchasing Policy sets the approval authority for change orders as summarized in 
the table below.   
 

Change Order Amount Authorizing Party 
• Less than 10% of the approved amount 

for the project or item; and  

• Less than $15,000; and  

• Does not cause the project/item to 
exceed the budget for the project/item. 

City Administrator 

Greater than 10% of the approved amount for 
the project or item 

Governing Body 

Greater than $15,000 Governing Body 
Causes the project/item budget to be exceeded Governing Body 

 
In March of this year City Council was updated about Change Orders #1, #2, #4, and #5 that 
were approved within the authority of the City Administrator. At that same council meeting 
City Council approved Change Order #6 related to access controls and security modifications 
that required Council authorization. Then in April of this year City Council approved Change 
Order #8 to rebuild the sanitary sewer connection for the library.  
 
Since the last update to Council, Change Orders #3, and #9-#13 were approved. According to 
the purchasing policy, these change orders are within the authority of the City Administrator. 
A summary of those approved change orders is below.  
 



• Change Order #3: is an increase (+$6,339) to have Combes Construction perform 
an electrical breaker coordination study as required per building code, but not included 
in the contract documents. 

• Change Order #9: is an increase (+$90) to have Combes Construction procure a 
dishwasher or the appropriate size for the kitchen. 

• Change Order #10: is an increase (+$5,486.00) for Combes Construction to build 
secured cabinetry in the Community Room to house the audio visual and network 
equipment for this space. This change order was requested by the City. 

• Change Order #11: is an increase (+$2,913.00) for Combes Construction for 
upgrade the electrical system in the storage room to provide sufficient power for an 
increase number of appliances to use this space. This change order was requested by 
the City. 

• Change Order #12: is an increase (+$1,449.00) for Combes Construction for 
subcontract specialty equipment to cut the existing sidewalk from the exterior walls of 
the businesses along Nelson to create a smooth transition to the new sidewalk. 

• Change Order #13: is an increase (+$4,469.00) for Combes Construction to remove 
and replace additional concrete pavement in the library parking lot. This change order 
was requested by the City. 

 
According to the purchasing policy, Change Order #16 requires approval by the Governing 
Body.  
 

• Change Order #16: is an increase not to exceed (+$29,728.00) to have Combes 
Construction and their subcontractors rebuild the asphalt pavement along East 3rd 
Street where the alley behind the Greenspace will connect to the road and along 
Martin where the new parking lot entrance will connect to the road. The asphalt in 
these areas was found to be very thin, less than 2 inches thick is some areas and in 
poor condition. City Staff requested Combes estimate a maximum not exceed number 
to restabilize the pavement subgrade and place new asphalt along segments of E 3rd 
Street and Martin Street. 

 
The design team has reviewed all change orders and finds the costs to be reasonable and 
appropriate for the scope of work involved. The table below shows the previously approved 
change orders to date and recommended Change Order #16 for consideration by City Council.  
 
If Change Order #16 is approved by City Council, the contract amount would be revised from 
$6,761,000.00 to $6,870,489 (+$109,489).   
 



Recommendation: Approve Change Order #16 to Contract with Combes 
Construction for Additional Pavement related to Construction of The 
Greenspace Project for a Maximum Not to Exceed of $29,728.00. 

 
 
These change orders encompass modifications encountered at this point in the construction 
schedule and do not include the final overrun/underrun of quantities for the project.  
Contractually the project substantial completion is set for February of 2025. Any additional 
change orders, including the final change order, will be forwarded for authorization (as 
needed by policy) at a future Council date.   
 
On September 9, 2022 an updated project scope and budget was approved by Council with an 
overall project cost of $8,704,500. The change orders with Combes Construction are within 
the project budget.  
 
Therefore, it is the recommendation of Staff to approve Change Order #16 for construction of 
the Greenspace to Combes Construction. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
 
 
Funding Source:     General Obligation Bonds  
 
Budget Allocated:  $ 8,704,950 

Finance Director Approval:     
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORIGINAL CONTRACT 6,761,000.00$  
Change Order 

Number Description Amount Authority Approval Status

1 West Tree Removal 3,696.00$            City Administrator Yes
2 Added Conduit (Fiber) 2,950.00$            City Administrator Yes
3 Breaker Coordination Study 6,339.00$            City Administrator Yes
4 Panelboard Credit (1,263.00)$           City Administrator Yes
5 ATS Credit (10,013.00)$         City Administrator Yes
6 Access Controls and Security Modifications 41,396.00$          City Council Yes
7 Temporary Junction Box 2,550.00$            City Administrator Yes
8 Library Sewer 19,699.00$          City Council Yes
9 Dishwasher Upgrade 90.00$                City Administrator Yes
10 AV Cabinet/Casework 5,486.00$            City Administrator Yes
11 Storage Room Electrical Upgrades 2,913.00$            City Administrator Yes
12 Flush Cut @ Ext Building on Nelson 1,449.00$            City Administrator Yes
13 Library Sewer Additional Pavement 4,469.00$            City Administrator Yes
16 Additional Pavement along E 3rd and Martin 29,728.00$          City Council No

TOTAL CONTRACT TO DATE
WITH CHANGE ORDERS 6,870,489.00$  



 
 
Enclosed:  Potential Change Order #16 
 
Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
     



The Greenspace Date: 08/08/24

COMBES POTENTIAL CHANGE ORDER REQUEST NO. 16

Architect's Proposal Request No.

COMBES JOB # 2330

DESCRIPTION:

3rd Street & Martin Street Asphalt 

Replacement 

QTY UNIT U.P. TOTAL

COMBES LABOR

0.00

Opperator 12 hr 90.00 1,080.00

SUBTOTAL LABOR 1,080.00

COMBES  MATERIAL / EQUIPMENT

0.00

CB Trucking 8 hr 135.00 1,080.00

0.00

Dump Fees 6 ls 88.00 528.00

SUBTOTAL MATERIAL / EQUIPMENT 1,608.00

SUBCONTRACT

Fine Cut 280 LF 10.00 2,800.00

Updike Paving 285 SY 78.05 22,244.25

SUBTOTAL SUBCONTRACT 25,044.25

SUBTOTAL:  Labor, Material, Subcontractor  (raw cost) 27,732.25

Less:  Allowance Budgeted (raw cost) 0.00

SUBTOTAL THIS PROPOSAL 27,732.25

Sales Tax on Combes Material NA % 0.00

Burden on Combes Labor 38 % 410.40

SUBTOTAL WITH TAX/Combes LABOR BURDEN 28,142.65

Fee on Combes Work 10 % 309.84

Fee on Sub Work 5 % 1,252.21

SUBTOTAL WITH Combes Fee 29,704.70

Builders Risk Insurance

Performance & Payment Bonds 0.08 % 23.76

TOTAL THIS PROPOSAL $ 29,728


	Agenda 09.12.2024
	04   Minutes 08.22.2024
	05   PUD2024-0101 - Revised Final Plat for Dwyer Farms Phase 2
	06   Resolution No. 09-12-24A - Mayoral Appointments
	07   Concurrence to Bid_2024 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehab
	10   Resolution No. 09-12-24B - Approving Consents to Partial TIF and CID Assignments Woodstone
	11   Ordinance No. 2167 - CU2024-0100
	12   Ordinance No. 2168 - CU2024-0101
	13   Public Hearing 301 E 5th St.
	14   UDC Art. 3 Update - Agricultural and Residence Districts
	15   Greenspace  - IDS Design Change Order
	16   Greenspace - Construction Change Order #16



